UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

The Role of MUC1 in Metastasis Dependent on EGFR and Src

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Biomedical Sciences

by

Steven Kai Ming Lau

Committee in charge:

Professor David A. Cheresh, Chair Professor Jing Yang, Co-Chair Professor Steven Gonias Professor James Quigley Professor David Schlaepfer

2011

Copyright

Steven Kai Ming Lau, 2011

All rights reserved.

The Dissertation of Steven Kai Ming Lau is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically:

Co-Chair

Chair

University of California, San Diego

2011

DEDICATION

In recognition of all those who have helped me to reach this day, especially:

- My research mentors: Timothy J. Ley, M.D., Allan Bradley, Ph.D., and David A. Cheresh, Ph.D.
- Other mentors instrumental in my scientific training: Matthew J. Walter,
 M.D., and David J. Adams, Ph.D.
- My thesis committee, for their enthusiastic input and generosity with their time
- Members of the Cheresh lab, for engendering an intellectually stimulating environment, especially: David Shields, Eric Murphy, Jay Desgrosellier, Sudarshan Anand
- My parents, for their constant support of my studies

Signature Pageiii
Dedicationiv
Table of Contents
List of Abbreviationsx
List of Figuresxii
Acknowledgementsxiv
Vitaxv
Abstract of the Dissertationxvi
Chapter 1 Introduction1
1.1 Tumor metastasis2
1.1.1 Overview of tumor biology2
1.1.2 Tumor metastasis
1.1.3 Signaling pathways in tumor progression and metastasis4
1.1.4 EGFR and Src signaling regulates tumor cell metastasis
mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ 7
1.2 Mucin glycoproteins9
1.2.1 Mucin family members in normal and tumor epithelium
1.2.2 How do transmembrane mucins contribute to tumor formation
and progression?11
1.2.3 Both extracellular and intracellular domains of MUC1 promote
tumor progression13

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.2.4 Therapeutic implications of MUC1 in tumor progression and	
metastasis	. 16
1.3 Hypotheses	. 18
Chapter 2 Methods	. 19
2.1 In silico strategy	. 20
2.2 Cell culture	. 20
2.3 Short hairpin RNA knockdown	. 20
2.4 Expression constructs	. 21
2.5 Immunoblotting	. 21
2.6 Flow cytometry	. 22
2.7 Adhesion assays	. 22
2.8 Viability assays	. 23
2.9 Migration assays	. 23
2.10 Metastasis assays	. 24
2.11 Subcellular fractionation	. 25
2.12 Immunofluorescence	. 25
2.13 Quantitative PCR	. 26
2.14 Mouse tumor experiments	. 27
2.15 Statistical analysis	. 38
Chapter 3 Identification of novel candidate effectors of tumor cell metastas	is
mediated by EGFR and Src	. 29
3.1 Introduction	. 30

3.2 Results
3.2.1 In silico screening approach identifies candidate effectors of
tumor metastasis dependent on EGFR and Src
3.2.2 Functional validation of lead candidates reveals a requirement for
MUC1, Caspase 8 and Cortactin in EGF-induced cell migration
3.2.3 MUC1 is required for EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis but not
primary tumor growth
3.2.4 Effect of MUC1 knockdown on integrin expression41
3.2.5 Knockdown of MUC1 does not inhibit tumor cell proliferation 41
3.2.6 MUC1 knockdown does not impair EGFR signaling42
3.3 Conclusions
Chapter 4 MUC1 cleavage by EGFR and Src signaling promotes tumor cell
metastasis
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Results
4.3.1 EGF treatment induces MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation49
4.3.2 EGF treatment induces MUC1 cleavage
4.3.3 MUC1 expression correlates with aggressiveness in pancreatic
tumor cell lines52
4.3.4 The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is required for EGF-dependent
cell migration

	4.3.5 The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is sufficient for carcinoma cell	
	migration and metastasis	56
	4.3.6 Expression of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain enhances cell	
	proliferation	55
	4.3.7 EGF treatment induces nuclear translocation of the MUC1	
	intracellular domain	55
	4.3.8 Src is required for EGF-induced MUC1 tyrosine	
	phosphorylation	65
	4.3.9 Src is required for EGF-induced MUC1 cleavage and nuclear	
	localization	65
	4.3.10 MUC1 is required for Src-dependent cell migration, but cell	
	migration mediated by MUC1.CD is Src-independent	71
	4.3.11 Pharmacological inhibition of Src inhibits MUC1 cleavage and	
	tumor cell metastasis <i>in vivo</i>	72
	4.3.12 Summary of Results	79
4.4	Conclusions	80
Chapte	er 5 Discussion	81
5.1	EGFR and Src signaling in tumor metastasis	82
5.2	MUC1 in tumor progression and metastasis	85
5.3	Interaction between MUC1 and Src promotes tumor formation and	
me	tastasis	88
5.4	Therapeutic applications	90

5.5 Summary	91
Appendix	93
Works Cited	94

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- **CAM** Chorioallantoic membrane
- Casp8 Caspase-8
- Ctrl Control
- CTTN Cortactin
- Cyto Cytoplasmic
- ECM Extracellular matrix protein
- EGF Epidermal growth factor
- EGFR Epidermal growth factor receptor, also known as ErbB
- ERK2 Extracellular signal-related kinase 2, also known as mitogen-activated

protein kinase 1

- FACS Fluorescence activated cell sorting
- FG Fast growing variant human pancreatic carcinoma cell
- GAPDH Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- GFP Green fluorescent protein
- HER2 Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, also known as ErbB2
- HRG Heregulin
- HSP90 Heat shock protein 90
- MUC1 Mucin-1, also known as CA 15-3, CD227, episialin, epithelial

membrane antigen, polymorphic epithelial mucin, breast carcinoma-associated

antigen DF3, KL-6, peanut-reactive urinary mucin

MUC1.CD – MUC1 cytoplasmic domain

MUC1.CT3 – Cytoplasmic domain-deleted MUC1

- MUC1.FL Full-length MUC1
- Nuc Nuclear
- **PARP** Poly ADP-ribose polymerase
- **PBS** Phosphate buffered saline
- **pY** Phosphorylated tyrosine
- Q-PCR Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- RTK Receptor tyrosine kinase
- **SFK** Src family kinase
- shRNA Short hairpin RNA
- siRNA Small interfering RNA
- Src Sarcoma gene
- Vil1 Villin-1
- XTT 2,3-Bis(2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium-5-

carboxanilide inner salt

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1:	Schematic of mucin family members10
Figure 1.2:	Cartoon of MUC1 signaling15
Figure 3.1:	Venn diagram depicting in silico approach to identifying novel
effectors	of tumor cell metastasis mediated by EGFR and Src
Figure 3.2:	Stable knockdown of six lead candidates in FG cells
Figure 3.3:	MUC1, Casp8, and CTTN are required for EGF-induced cell
migration	
Figure 3.4:	MUC1 is required for EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis without
affecting	primary tumor growth37
Figure 3.5:	Effect of MUC1 knockdown on integrin expression
Figure 3.6:	MUC1 knockdown has no significant effect on cell viability 40
Figure 3.7:	MUC1 knockdown does not impair EGFR signaling43
Figure 4.1:	EGF treatment enhances MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation 50
Figure 4.2:	EGF treatment promotes cleavage of MUC151
Figure 4.3:	MUC1 expression correlates with tumor aggressiveness 53
Figure 4.4:	MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is required for EGF-induced cell
migration	
Figure 4.5:	MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promotes cell migration mediated by
integrin α	νβ557
Figure 4.6:	MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promotes spontaneous pulmonary
tumor cel	I metastasis without enhancing primary tumor growth

Figure 4.7:	Effect of MUC1 expression on cell viability	59
Figure 4.8:	EGF treatment induces MUC1 nuclear localization	61
Figure 4.9:	EGF treatment induces MUC1 nuclear localization	62
Figure 4.10:	MUC1 cytoplasmic domain spontaneously localizes to the	
nucleus		63
Figure 4.11:	EGF treatment and MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promote	
expressio	n of a metastasis signature	64
Figure 4.12:	Src kinase activity is required for EGF-induced MUC1 tyrosine	
phosphor	ylation	66
Figure 4.13:	Src promotes MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation	67
Figure 4.14:	Src activity is required for EGF-induced MUC1 cleavage	68
Figure 4.15:	Src activity promotes MUC1 cleavage	69
Figure 4.16:	Src activity promotes MUC1 nuclear localization	70
Figure 4.17:	MUC1 is required for cell migration driven by Src	74
Figure 4.18:	Cell migration driven by MUC1.CD is independent of Src	
activity		75
Figure 4.19:	Src inhibitor blocks MUC1 cleavage in vivo	76
Figure 4.20:	Model for MUC1 in metastasis dependent on EGFR and Src	77
Figure 4.21:	Hypotheses for mechanism of MUC1 cleavage dependent on	
EGFR an	d Src	78

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank David Cheresh, Ph.D., for investing countless resources into my training as a scientist. I can only begin to scratch the surface in acknowledging five years of his scientific mentoring, his support and guidance, and his providing a rich lab environment to learn in. I suspect what I have learned from Dr. Cheresh as a student will continue to mature in ways I may not yet appreciate as I continue my training and career.

I would like to acknowledge funding from the University of California, San Diego Medical Scientist Training Program and Biomedical Sciences Program and from multiple NIH grants, including but not limited to R01 CA045726 (D.A.C.), R01 CA102310 (D.D.S.) and PHSGM07198 (UCSD MSTP).

Chapter 4, in part, is currently being prepared for submission for publication of the material. Lau SKM, Shields DJ, Murphy EA, Desgrosellier JS, Anand S, Huang M, Lim ST, Stupack DG, Schlaepfer DD, and Cheresh DA. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this material.

xiv

VITA

Education:

2003	Bachelor of Arts, Biology, Washington University in St. Louis
2011	Doctor of Philosophy, Biomedical Sciences, University of California, San Diego

Publications:

Walter MJ, Park JS, **Lau SKM**, Li X, Lane AA, Nagarajan R, Shannon WD, and Ley TJ. Expression profiling of murine acute promyelocytic leukemia cells reveals multiple model-dependent progression signatures. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* (2004) 24:10882-93.

Walter MJ, Park JS, Ries RE, **Lau SKM**, McLellan M, Jaeger S, Wilson RK, Mardis ER, and Ley TJ. Reduced PU.1 expression causes myeloid progenitor expansion and increased leukemia penetrance in mice expressing PML-RARα. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* (2005) 102:12513-8.

Lee KB, Vaishnavi SN, **Lau SKM**, Andriole DA, and Jeffe DB. Making the grade: Non-cognitive predictors of medical students' clinical clerkship grades. *J. Natl. Med. Assoc.* (2007) 99:1138-50.

Lee KB, Vaishnavi SN, **Lau SKM**, Andriole DA, and Jeffe DB. Cultural competency in medical education: Demographic differences associated with medical student communication styles and clinical clerkship feedback. *J. Natl. Med. Assoc.* (2009) 101:116-26.

Ricono JM, Huang M, Barnes LA, **Lau SKM**, Weis SM, Schlaepfer DD, Hanks SK, and Cheresh DA. Specific cross-talk between epidermal growth factor receptor and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ promotes carcinoma cell invasion and metastasis. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:1383-91.

Desgrosellier JS, Barnes LA, Shields DJ, Huang M, **Lau SKM**, Prevost N, Tarin D, Shattil SJ, and Cheresh DA. An integrin alphavbeta3/c-src oncogenic unit promotes anchorage-independence and tumor progression. *Nat Med*. (2009) 15:1163-9.

Shields DJ, Niessen S, Murphy EA, Mielgo A, Desgrosellier J, **Lau SKM**, Barnes L, Lesperance J, Bouvet M, Tarin D, Cravatt B, and Cheresh DA. RBBP9: A tumor-associated serine hydrolase activity required for pancreatic neoplasia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* (2010) 107:2189-94.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

The Role of MUC1 in Metastasis Dependent on EGFR and Src

by

Steven Kai Ming Lau

Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Sciences University of California, San Diego, 2011 Professor David A. Cheresh, Chair Professor Jing Yang, Co-Chair

Tumor metastasis is a complex, multi-step process initially depending on local invasion and followed by intravasation, survival in the circulation, extravasation and colonization of a distant site. Many studies have shown that EGFR and Src signaling and its cooperation with integrins are involved throughout metastasis. However, the mechanisms by which cross-talk between RTK signaling and integrins contribute to metastasis are not welldescribed. EGFR signaling promotes carcinoma cell metastasis that is dependent on activation of both Src kinase and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$, but little is known about the downstream effectors contributing to EGFR-mediated metastasis. Therefore, the studies in this dissertation proposed to investigate

xvi

novel downstream effectors of metastasis dependent on EGFR, Src, and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$.

Lead candidate effector molecules were systematically identified using an *in silico* strategy and validated in a well-described chick CAM model of EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis. This approach revealed a requirement for MUC1 in spontaneous metastasis to the lungs but not primary tumor formation.

MUC1 contributes to the mucous barrier protecting epithelial cells from the environment and participates in intracellular signaling cascades as a substrate for EGFR and Src. Interestingly, both extracellular and intracellular domains of MUC1 have been linked to tumor progression and metastasis. Expression of mutant MUC1 constructs revealed that the cytoplasmic domain is required for EGF-induced cell migration mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ and promotes metastasis without enhancing primary tumor growth. In biochemical and cell biological approaches, EGFR signaling enhanced MUC1 cleavage, nuclear localization and transcription of genes associated with metastasis. Genetic and pharmacological strategies revealed a requirement for Src in EGF-induced MUC1 cleavage and nuclear translocation, which were associated with sponteanous metastasis in a murine orthotopic pancreatic tumor model. Therefore, the findings described in this dissertation define a

xvii

critical role for MUC1 in tumor metastasis regulating by cooperative signaling between EGFR, Src, and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 <u>Tumor metastasis</u>

1.1.1 Overview of tumor biology

Tumor formation and progression is generally considered a sequential, selective and stochastic process involving the acquisition of several cancer "hallmarks." These include unlimited replicative capacity, sustained proliferative signaling, suppression of growth inhibition, evasion of apoptosis, enhanced angiogenesis and invasive and/or metastatic behavior. While each of these processes are tightly controlled in normal tissue, tumor cells have evaded these restrictions.

In the multiple-hit model – first proposed in 1953 [1, 2] – tumors can gradually develop over many years without being detected. Pre-malignant cells undergo a stepwise, selective accumulation of genetic abnormalities leading to the acquisition of successive cancer hallmarks and more aggressive behavior.[3, 4] By the time tumors are clinically detectable and diagnosed, they are generally heterogeneous and contain subpopulations of neoplastic cells with varying biological characteristics.[5, 6, 7] This is significant, since subpopulations of malignant cells from the same tumor may act differently and respond in different ways to the same treatment.

Adding to this complexity, tumors are comprised of a diverse array of components such as endothelial cells, inflammatory cells and fibroblasts in

addition to neoplastic cells. As with malignant cells, the tumor-associated stroma is heterogeneous and can be functionally and spatially diverse.[8]

1.1.2 Tumor metastasis

Of the cancer hallmarks, tumor cell invasion and metastasis may be the most fearful because of its association with morbidity and mortality in cancer patients. Cancer is predicted to cause over 7.6 million deaths worldwide in 2010, with approximately 550,000 deaths in the USA, and tumor metastasis is responsible for most of these cancer deaths.[9, 10] Furthermore, distant metastasis is often resistant to treatment and generally considered incurable.

Epithelial tumor cell metastasis is the culmination of multiple steps including local invasion, intravasation, survival in the vasculature, extravasation, and colonization of a distant site. Each of these steps is complex and could represent a rate-limiting barrier to metastasis. Therefore, it is important to elucidate what enables tumor cells to successfully metastasize. In fact, only a small fraction of tumor cells, even those entering the circulation, develop into clinically-apparent macrometastases.[11, 12] When radio-labeled melanoma cells are injected into the circulation, less than 0.01% of these cells successfully colonize the lung.[12] These observations have led to questions on whether metastasis is a selective or a stochastic process. Additional studies have determined that intrinsic properties of tumor cells can promote

3

tissue-specific colonization of distant sites.[13, 14, 15, 16] Such findings appear to support tumor cell selection as an important component of metastasis.

The prevailing theory of tumor initiation and progression involves the evolutionary accumulation of genetic abnormalities leading to malignancy.[3, 4] In this model, distant metastasis is usually considered a late event in tumor progression.[17, 18] In contrast, others have reported that tumor cells with stem-like characteristics are responsible for distant metastasis.[19, 20] This implies that distant metastasis could in fact be possible at early stages in tumor formation. Furthermore, if stem-like cancer cells can metastasize, then extensive selection of tumor cells at the primary site cannot universally explain metastasis. While these models of tumor cell metastasis are not mutually exclusive, in this context metastasis appears to be a stochastic process.

While substantial advances have been made in recent years towards the diagnosis and treatment of human cancers, efficient means of treating metastatic disease are missing. This context highlights a critical need for understanding the molecular mechanisms through which tumor cells mobilize and disseminate to secondary sites. Such knowledge could reveal new therapeutic strategies to prevent and/or treat metastatic disease.

1.1.3 Signaling pathways in tumor progression and metastasis

4

Cell migration is a tightly-controlled process critical for normal embryonic development, the inflammatory response and neural genesis. However, signaling pathways used in normal cell migration are exploited by tumor cells for their dissemination. As an example, the discovery of epidermal growth factor (EGF) and its receptor, EGFR, are instructive. Stanley Cohen first discovered the soluble factor he called EGF in 1962 from salivary gland extracts based on its ability to accelerate tooth and eye development in newborn mice.[21] More than 15 years later, Cohen and colleagues identified the cell surface receptor for EGF, EGFR.[22, 23, 24] Soon after, it became clear that the avian erythroblastosis tumor virus gene, v-*erbB*, was an aberrant form of EGFR.[25, 26, 27] Later studies have demonstrated that both EGF and EGFR are upregulated in various human cancers.[28, 29, 30] These discoveries paved the way for therapies targeting EGFR to be tested and, eventually, approved for the treatment of human tumors.[31, 32, 33, 34]

We now know that EGFR, a receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK), commands a wide array of signaling pathways including those of the phosphoinositol-3kinases, mitogen-activated protein kinases, and Janus kinases. However, not all EGFR activation is equivalent. The biological outcome of EGFR signaling depends on a combinatorial context of which downstream effectors are available.[35, 36, 37] Importantly, recent studies have demonstrated that activated EGFR recruits and activates Src.[38, 39, 40] We recently observed that a functional outcome of EGFR-dependent Src activation is the enhancement of tumor cell migration *in vitro* and metastasis *in vivo*.[41]

Presently, Src is among the most well studied molecules in tumor biology. Peyton Rous described the first example of a transmissible tumorigenic virus, the Rous sarcoma virus (RSV), in 1911.[42] Decades later, the viral gene v-Src, a homolog of cellular c-Src, was identified as the causative agent of RSV-dependent tumorigenesis.[43, 44, 45] Soon after, Src was determined to be a non-receptor tyrosine kinase.[46, 47] We now know that Src, like EGFR, is a key regulatory node of various signaling pathways and controls cellular processes essential for cell migration. For example, Src phosphorylates Crk-associated substrate (p130CAS or CAS) leading to recruitment of Crk and DOCK180 for the coordination of the activity of small GTPases including Rap1.[41, 48, 49] Src also phosphorylates FAK at Y861 and enhances its association with integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ in HUVEC human endothelial cells.[50] Finally, Src phosphorylates the adherens junctions components Ecadherin and β-catenin promoting their internalization and weakening cell-cell adhesion.[51] Additional studies have demonstrated that Src is overexpressed or hyperactivated in human cancers. [52, 53, 54, 55, 56] Together, these discoveries served as the foundation for therapies targeting Src to be tested, and, eventually, approved for the treatment of human cancers. [57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62] Importantly, several inhibitors of Src activity including dasatinib are now being tested for efficacy in both liquid and solid tumors.

1.1.4 EGFR and Src signaling regulates tumor cell metastasis mediated by integrin αvβ5

Integrins are a family of transmembrane receptors that bind to extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins. In addition, they regulate bidirectional signaling between the extracellular milieu and many intracellular signaling pathways, particularly those regulating adhesion and the cytoskeleton. The critical function of integrins is reflected in their ubiquitous expression.

Mature integrins are noncovalent heterodimers of an α subunit, of which there are 18, and a β subunit, of which there are 8, and these subunits are known to combine in at least 24 unique combinations.[63] Each α - β subunit pairing has varying affinity to different ECM proteins, and a single integrin heterodimer can bind to several ligands. Ligand specificity can be modified by the extracellular divalent cations (Ca⁺², Mg⁺² or Mn⁺²) [64, 65] or by restricting the available ligands in a tissue-specific manner. Upon ligation of integrins to their cognate ligands in the ECM, β -subunit integrins form focal adhesions by clustering, anchoring the actin cytoskeleton to the ECM and recruit and activate a number of signaling proteins including Src [66, 67] and FAK [68, 69] to form focal adhesions.

A growing body of literature has revealed cooperative signaling between growth factor and cytokine receptors and integrins to regulate cell 7

adhesion [70, 71], migration [72, 73, 74, 75], invasion [73], and survival. [76, 77] Interestingly, while integrins promote cell death in the absence of ligation [78], integrin signaling in tumor cells deficient for this integrin-mediated death actually enhances metastasis.[79] In many tumor types, including pancreatic cancer, members of the ErbB family contribute to tumor formation and metastasis.[28, 29, 30, 80] Could cross-talk between RTKs such as EGFR and integrins participate in tumor progression? We previously observed that integrin $\alpha \nu \beta 5$, in the absence of growth factor stimulation, is unable to form focal adhesions and initiate FG human pancreatic carcinoma cell migration/invasion.[81] However, following EGF stimulation, cells expressing integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ as their only vitronectin receptor gain the ability to invade in vitro and metastasize in vivo.[73, 82] Interestingly, cell invasion mediated by β1 integrins is independent of EGF.[73, 82] Furthermore, cell migration and metastasis mediated by integrin avß5 requires EGF-dependent activation of Src, whereas migration mediated by $\beta 1$ integrins is independent of Src activity [41]. These studies describe a signaling pathway that enhances tumor cell metastasis and thereby help distinguish between tumor cells with greater or lesser propensity for metastasis. The molecular mechanism by which EGFR and Src signaling cooperate to enhance metastasis is not well-understood.

An understanding of integrin-mediated cell-matrix adhesion has led to targeting of integrins as a therapeutic approach to human cancers. Interestingly, integrins expressed by both tumor cells and host cells are useful targets of such therapies. For example, the vitronectin receptor integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$ is overexpressed in several human cancers, including those of the pancreas, and is correlated with metastasis.[83, 84] Furthermore, host cell integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$ plays an essential role in tumor angiogenesis.[85, 86] These and other findings led to the development of the peptide inhibitor cilengitide, which antagonizes integrins $\alpha\nu\beta3$ and $\alpha\nu\beta5$ and is currently in phase 3 clinical trials for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme.[87]

1.2 <u>Mucin Glycoproteins</u>

1.2.1 Mucin family members in normal and tumor epithelium

The mucin family of proteins is expressed by ductal epithelial cells and is composed of 20 members, each of which share the common feature of a tandem repeat domain of variable length rich in proline, threonine and serine residues (PTS domain) (**Figure 1.1**).[8] The PTS domain is subject to extensive glycosylation via GalNAc *O*-linkages at threonine and serine residues.[8] Mucin family members are classified as either secreted or transmembrane. While both types contribute to the mucous gel protecting epithelial cells from extracellular stresses such as bacteria, toxins and acidic pH, the transmembrane forms, as their name implies, possess short cytoplasmic tails which activate intracellular signaling cascades.[8] Secreted mucins:



Transmembrane mucins:



Figure 1.1: Schematic of mucin family members, of which there are 20. The mucin family is characterized by a large tandem repeat domain (TR) of variable length and rich in serine and threonine targets of GalNAc *O*-glycosylation. Secreted mucins may have D domains (DD) with homology to the dimerization domains of von Willebrand factor, and D domains mediate mucin oligomerization. Transmembrane mucins generally have EGF-like domains (EGF) thought to mediate mucin association with ErbB family members. The sperm protein, enterokinase and agrin domain (SEA) may participate in mucin association with carbohydrates and frequently contains an extracellular cleavage site (CL). Notably, transmembrane mucins possess short cytoplasmic tails (ICD) which participate in intracellular signaling. Signal peptide (SP), transmembrane domain (TM).

Transmembrane mucins are overexpressed in human cancers. Mucin-1 (MUC1, also known as CA15-3) is the most-studied mucin family member and is overexpressed in a wide range of epithelial carcinomas, including those of the pancreas, breast, prostate and lung.[88, 89, 90] In fact, serumassociated MUC1 is clinically-approved for monitoring disease progression in cancers of the breast.[91] Interestingly, seroconversion against MUC1 independently predicts better outcomes in pancreatic and breast cancer patients.[92, 93] Transmembrane MUC4 is also elevated in pancreatic cancer and predicts poor prognosis.[94, 95] Another transmembrane mucin, MUC16 (also known as CA125) is upregulated in ovarian cancer, and serumassociated MUC16 is clinically-approved for detecting and monitoring disease.[96, 97] In contrast, the secreted mucin MUC2 has been reported to function as a tumor suppressor in colorectal carcinomas by controlling inflammation induced by microbial flora.[98]

1.2.2 How do transmembrane mucins contribute to tumor formation and progression?

The normal epithelium is polarized, and MUC1 and RTKs such as EGFR are restricted to the apical and basolateral surfaces, respectively.[88, 99, 100] In contrast, polarity is irreversibly lost in carcinoma cells, and MUC1 and EGFR freely interact throughout the cell surface.[101, 102, 103] This association enhances spontaneous tumor formation and progression. For example, whereas wild-type mice expressing transgenic TGF α uniformly develop mammary tumors which spontaneously metastasize, tumor formation in a *Muc1^{-/-}* background was delayed and metastasis was abolished.[104] In this model, MUC1 may enhance tumor formation and metastasis by preventing ligand-induced EGFR internalization and degradation to stabilize signaling.[101, 105, 106] MUC1-EGFR interaction is also thought to enhance binding of Src and β -catenin to MUC1 to facilitate tumor cell invasion and metastasis.[101, 107, 108] In addition, association of MUC1 and EGFR activates mitogenic MAPK signaling.[102, 109] Importantly, the short cytoplasmic tail of MUC1 is subject to tyrosine [101, 107], serine [110] and threonine [111] phosphorylation, which regulates its function in intracellular signaling.

MUC4 also interacts with the ErbB family member HER2 in carcinoma cells.[112] Unlike MUC1, which is thought to interact with EGFR via extracellular Galectin-3 [106], MUC4 has extracellular EGF-like domains through which it binds HER2 and enhances its signaling to promote tumor cell survival.[112, 113, 114] Thus, unlike MUC1, there is currently no evidence for phosphorylation of the MUC4 cytoplasmic tail or a role for it in signaling.

Less is known about the role of MUC16 in tumor formation and progression. While MUC16 has not been reported to interact with ErbB family members, the MUC16 ectodomain binds to mesothelin, which is thought to

12

mediate peritoneal seeding of ovarian carcinomas.[115, 116] Like MUC4, there is no currently no evidence for phosphorylation or signaling of the MUC16 cytoplasmic tail.

1.2.3 Both extracellular and intracellular domains of MUC1 promote tumor progression

MUC1 is synthesized as a single polypeptide chain, but is thought to be co-translationally processed into a stable heterodimer by conformational stress at its extracellular SEA domain.[117, 118] As a result, MUC1 is expressed at the cell surface as a stable heterodimer. The extensively glycosylated MUC1 ectodomain extends over 100 nm from the cell surface, well beyond the 10 nm glycocalyx.[119] As such, it has been reported to contribute to tumor cell invasion and metastasis by inhibiting E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion [120] and β1 integrin-mediated cell-matrix adhesion.[121] In contrast, the MUC1 ectodomain has also been demonstrated to promote transendothelial migration mediated by ICAM-1 [122, 123] and E-selectin [124] and perineural invasion mediated by Siglec-4a.[125] The MUC1 ectodomain is also proteolytically cleaved from the cell surface by TACE/ADAM17 [126] and MT1-MMP [127] and shed into the circulation, where it is clinically used to follow tumor progression.[91] Therefore, the MUC1 ectodomain facilitates tumor cell invasion and metastasis by modulating cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions.

Recent studies have focused on the role of the smaller transmembrane MUC1 subunit, particularly the short 72-amino acid intracellular domain, as an effector molecule downstream of RTKs including ErbB family members [101, 102, 105, 128, 129], *c*-Met [130], FGFR [131] and PDGFR [132]. While the precise mechanism of MUC1 cleavage and/or internalization is not well understood, cytokine stimulation initiates translocation of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain to various intracellular locations (Figure 1.2). For example, whereas EGF stimulation promotes nuclear translocation in association with β -catenin [101, 107], the EGF family member HRG induces nucleolar localization in association with y-catenin.[129] Within the nucleus and lacking its own DNA-binding domain, MUC1 acts as a co-activator for expression of genes associated with tumor cell invasion and metastasis including TWIST1, SNAI1 and SNAI2.[130, 131, 133, 134] HRG stimulation is also reported to enhance MUC1 mitochondrial localization, where MUC1 promotes tumor cell survival in the presence of genotoxic agents.[135, 136] Interestingly, expression of transgenic MUC1 under control of the MMTV promoter results in spontaneous mammary tumor formation, and the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is required.[137] These studies demonstrate that the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain functions as a component of signaling pathways to promote tumor formation and metastasis.



Figure 1.2: Cartoon of MUC1 processing. (a) EGFR and Src phosphorylate tyrosine residues on the MUC1 intracellular domain. This has been proposed to result in proteolytic cleavage (indicated by the star) on the intracellular portion of MUC1 and release from the plasma membrane. (b) The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain translocates to the nucleus in association with other transcriptional co-activators including β-catenin, resulting in the transcription of target genes associated with metastasis. (c) The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain also localizes to the mitochondrial outer membrane in association with chaperone proteins including HSP90, resulting in suppression of apoptosis.

Interaction with Src, a key node of many signaling pathways, mediates many tumor-promoting functions of MUC1. For example, spontaneous tumor formation, growth and metastasis are suppressed in $Muc1^{-/-}$ mice compared to wild-type mice in a well-established murine breast tumor model driven by polyoma middle T antigen. [138] Tumor development in this model is dependent on Src kinase activity [139], and tumors developing in Muc1^{-/-} mice exhibit decreased Src activity.[140] Src-dependent phosphorylation of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain at Y46 enhances its interaction with HSP90 in human 293 fibroblasts and HCT116 colorectal carcinoma cells.[136] Other SFKs including Lck [141] and Lyn [142] have also been demonstrated to phosphorylate the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain at Y46, which leads enhances its interaction with β -catenin in 293 cells.[142] In addition, using the pharmacological Src inhibitor PP2, an unidentified SFK or SFKs was shown to phosphorylate the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain and enhance its interaction with CrkL in T-47D human breast carcinoma cells.[123] Therefore, while Src regulates MUC1 function in tumor progression and metastasis, the precise effect of Src on MUC1 is not well-understood.

1.2.4 Therapeutic implications of MUC1 in tumor progression and metastasis

Substantial advances have been made in our understanding of tumor progression and metastasis. Therapies targeting pharmacological inhibitors of EGFR [33, 34] and Src [58, 59, 60, 61, 62] have had clinical success, with several more in development. In addition, an integrin antagonist is in phase 3 clinical trials.[87] While these therapies have incrementally improved the outlook for cancer patients, efficient methods for the prevention and treatment of tumor metastasis are still lacking. Therefore, further characterization of the molecular mechanisms coordinating the carcinoma cell metastasis is critical.

Recently, MUC1 has become a candidate of targeted therapies. Several MUC1 vaccines are currently in phase 3 clinical trials in patients with breast or lung cancer. These vaccines are designed to stimulate an inflammatory response to MUC1 as a tumor antigen, which has already been shown to correlate with positive outcomes in breast and pancreatic cancers.[92, 93] However, given that the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain interacts with RTKs and Src to promote tumor progression and metastasis, such vaccines may have limited benefit in controlling cancers dependent on EGFR and Src signaling. Interestingly, elevated serum MUC1 is predictive of de novo resistance to EGFR inhibitors.[143, 144] To address these concerns, recent studies have identified peptide antagonists and small molecule inhibitors of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain and found them effective in preclinical mouse models of breast and prostate cancer.[145, 146, 147, 148] These therapies may be useful in preventing and treating metastatic disease in a wide variety of tumors known to express MUC1.

Our findings describe a pathway in which cross-talk between EGFR and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ promotes tumor cell invasion and metastasis via Src-dependent MUC1 cleavage. These studies may explain in part how inhibitors of EGFR and its downstream effectors including Src and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ suppress the metastatic spread of tumor cells. An improved understanding of the molecular mechanisms leading to metastasis could reveal novel therapeutic strategies for the treatment of malignant disease.

1.3 <u>Hypotheses</u>

This study investigates several hypotheses related to the differences between tumor cells that successfully metastasize and those that do not. It seeks:

- To identify and validate novel effectors essential for tumor cell migration and metastasis dependent on EGFR and Src.
- To examine the molecular basis by which MUC1 is required for EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis.
- 3. To assess the impact of Src on MUC1 in tumor cell migration.
Chapter 2

Methods

2.1 In silico strategy

Substrates of tyrosine phosphorylation following EGF treatment and Src substrates and interactants were identified in open-access databases

(**Appendix**). Hits found in both groups were considered candidates for further analysis. Each candidate was systematically evaluated using MEDLINE, and the following filters were applied to candidates:

- 1) Experimental evidence for role in cell migration
- Evidence for role in tumor cell metastasis as demonstrated either in experimental models or through clinical correlation
- Inverse correlation between expression in human tumors and overall survival of cancer patients
- 4) Linked to human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.

2.2 <u>Cell culture</u>

Mycoplasma-negative FG human pancreatic carcinoma cells [149] were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Mediatech, Inc.) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Omega Scientific, Inc.), Lglutamine (Mediatech, Inc.), sodium pyruvate (Mediatech, Inc.) and nonessential amino acids (Mediatech, Inc.).

2.3 Short hairpin RNA knockdown

Expression of lead candidates was suppressed by shRNA in FG human pancreatic carcinoma cells. Lentiviral shRNA constructs in pLKO.1 expressing system were purchased from Open Biosystems. Lentiviruses were produced in 293FT cells using FuGENE6 transfection reagent (Roche). Cells were selected 48 hours after infection with 1 ug/mL puromycin (Cellgro / Mediatech, Inc.) and single-cell clones were isolated, propagated and screened by immunoblot. Three or more clones were pooled for further experiments to avoid non-specific clonal effects.

2.4 Expression constructs

Full-length and cytoplasmic domain-deleted MUC1 were generously provided by Michael Hollingsworth.[150] The 3'UTR was removed from these constructs before transfection into cells. MUC1 cytoplasmic domain was cloned by PCR and sequenced. MUC1 knockdown cells were transfected with rescue constructs in pcDNA3.1 using Lipofectamine2000 (Life Technologies) and serum starved overnight, and migration assays were performed at 48 h after transfection. For some experiments, the stop codon was removed by site-directed mutagenesis (Agilent Technologies) and the construct was sequentially cloned into pGFP (Clontech Laboratories) and then pCDH lentivirus expressing system (System Biosciences). Cells were sorted twice by flow cytometry for cells highly expressing GFP-labeled constructs.

2.4 Immunoblotting

Cells were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Lysate was incubated with gentle agitation for 20 minutes at 4 °C prior to centrifugation at 14,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4 °C to remove insoluble particles. Protein was quantified with BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 50 ug of each sample was loaded into a polyacrylamide gel for separation by SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis. Proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad) and blocked with 5% BSA (Sigma) in TBST prior to incubation with primary antibody followed by secondary antibody. Antibodies were purchased from Abcam (GFP), BD Biosciences (PARP), Cell Signaling Technologies (MUC1 VU4H5, Src pY416), Millipore (GAPDH, Src GD11), Santa Cruz (ERK2, HSP90), Sigma (β -actin), and Thermo Fisher Scientific (MUC1 CT-2). For some experiments, cells were pre-treated with or without Src inhibitor (bosutinib [151], 500 nM, ChemieTek) for 30 minutes.

2.5 Flow cytometry

FACS analysis and cell sorting was performed at the Moores UCSD Cancer Center Shared Resource. Expression of integrins was assessed with mouse anti-human $\alpha\nu\beta5$ (P1F6) [152] and $\beta1$ (P4C10) [152] followed by incubation in Alexa Fluor 647 nm-conjugated secondary antibodies (Life Technologies).

2.6 Adhesion assays

 5×10^5 cells were allowed to adhere to 96-well plates coated with vitronectin (10 ug/mL) or fibronectin (5 ug/mL) for 16 hours at 4 °C and

blocked with 5% BSA (Sigma) in PBS for 2 hours at 37 °C. Cell adhesion (30, 60, 90 minutes) was terminated with 0.01% crystal violet (Sigma) in 20% methanol PBS for 10 minutes. Excess staining solution was washed away with PBS prior to elution with 100% methanol and reading in a 96-well plate reader (PowerWave XS2, BioTek) at optical density 570 nm. Similar results were found in two independent experiments with three replicates per cell line.

2.7 <u>Viability assays</u>

5 x 10⁴ cells were plated in a 96-well plate and incubated for 24, 48, or 72 hours. Cell viability was assessed with XTT (1 mg/mL, Sigma) activated with N-methyl dibenzopyrazine methyl sulfate (PMS, 1 mg/mL, Sigma). Color was read in a 96-well plate reader (PowerWave XS2, BioTek) at optical density 450 nm. Similar results were found in three independent experiments with six replicates per cell line.

2.8 <u>Migration assays</u>

Cells were serum-starved for 16 hours before treatment with or without EGF (50 ng/mL, Millipore) for 15 minutes. Cells were washed with PBS to remove EGF prior to inoculation (2×10^6 cells) on Boyden chambers in triplicate. The bottoms of 0.8 µm pore Boyden chambers (Corning) were precoated with vitronectin (10 ug/mL) or type I collagen (5 ug/mL, BD Biosciences) for 1 hour at 37 °C before washing with PBS to remove excess protein. Cell migration on vitronectin (16 hours) or collagen (3 hours) was

terminated with 0.01% crystal violet (Sigma) in 20% methanol PBS for 15 minutes. The tops of the Boyden chambers were cleaned with cotton swabs, and wells were washed thoroughly with water prior to counting the number of cells that had migrated through the chamber. For some experiments, cells were transfected with nonsilencing or MUC1 small interfering RNAs (Qiagen) using Lipofectamine2000 (Life Technologies), and migration assays were performed 48 hours after transfection. For some experiments, cells were treated with or without Src inhibitor (bosutinib, 500 nM, ChemieTek) for 30 minutes prior to migration assays. Results are expressed as mean ± s.e.m. of three replicates. Similar findings were observed in 3 independent experiments.

2.9 <u>Metastasis assays</u>

Cells were serum-starved for 16 hours before treatment with or without EGF (50 ng/mL) for 15 minutes. Cells were washed with PBS to remove EGF prior to inoculation (2×10^7 cells) on the chorioallantoic membrane of 10 day-old embryonated chicken eggs (McIntyre Poultry & Fertile Eggs, Lakeside, California). After 10 days, primary tumors were collected and weighed to determine tumor mass and lungs were harvested to assess spontaneous pulmonary metastasis. Genomic DNA was extracted from the chick lungs with phenol:chloroform (Amresco) and the number of cells that had metastasized was quantified by Q-PCR for human *Alu* sequence and chicken GAPDH normalized to a standard curve generated from genomic DNA extracted from

chicken lung homogenates containing a serial dilution of a known quantity of FG cells. Primer sequences are as follows:

Alu: 5'-ACGCCTGTAATCCCAGCACTT-3'
5'-TCGCCCAGGCTGGAGTGC-3' [153]
GAPDH: 5'-GAGGAAAGGTCGCCTGGTGGATCG-3'
5'-GGTGAGGACAAGCAGTGAGGAACG-3' [153]
Each point represents a separate egg, n ≥ 6 eggs per group. Similar

findings were observed in 3 independent experiments.

2.10 Subcellular fractionation

Cells were lysed in 0.05% NP-40 (Sigma) supplemented with protease inhibitors. Lysate was incubated with gentle agitation for 15 minutes at 4 °C prior to centrifugation at 3,000 rpm for 5 minutes at 4 °C to pellet nuclei. The supernatant was collected and centrifuged 14,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4 °C to remove insoluble particles. The resulting supernatant was collected as the cytoplasmic fraction. The nuclear pellet was washed 10 times with cytoplasmic buffer prior to lysing with RIPA buffer supplemented with protease inhibitors. Nuclear lysate was also centrifuged 14,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4 °C to remove insoluble particles, and the resulting supernatant was collected as the nuclear fraction.

2.11 Immunofluorescence

 5×10^5 cells were seeded directly on 22mm coverslips (Fisher Scientific) in 6-well plates for 24 hours at 37 °C. Cells were serum-starved for 16 hours before treatment with or without EGF (50 ng/mL) for 15 minutes. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (Ted Pella, Inc.) in PBS for 15 minutes at 25 °C. Following permeabilization with 0.1% Triton X-100 (Bio-Rad) in PBS for 2 minutes, cells were blocked with 3% BSA (Sigma) in PBS for 1 hour at 25 °C. Nuclei were visualized with TO-PRO-3 (Life Technologies). Coverslips were mounted onto slides with VECTASHIELD Hardset (Vector Labs) and images were acquired using laser scanning confocal microscopy under a 60x/1.4 NA oil objective (Nikon C1si, Nikon Instruments). Nuclear Mucin-1 was quantified using MetaMorph (Molecular Devices). Data is expressed as a percentage of total detectable Mucin-1 ± s.e.m. of n ≥ 20 images per group acquired during two independent experiments with three replicates each.

2.12 **Quantitative PCR**

Cells were serum-starved for 16 hours prior to lysis with Trizol (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was generated using the Superscript III First-strand Synthesis Kit (Life Technologies). Reactions containing 200ng cDNA were prepared in QuantiTect SYBR Green Master Mix (Qiagen) and subjected to quantitative RT-PCR analysis using a Smart Cycler (Cepheid). Values were obtained for the threshold cycle (Ct) for each gene and normalized to β-actin. For some experiments, cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for 15 minutes prior to washing with PBS and incubation for 1, 3, 8, or 24 h before RNA extraction. Primer sequences are as follows:

TWIST: 5'-AAGAGGTCGTGCCAATCAG-3'

5'-GGCCAGTTTGATCCCAGTAT-3'

Designed using Primer Express 3.0 (Applied Biosystems)

SNAI1: 5'-AATCGGAAGCCTAACTACAGCG-3'

5'-GTCCCAGATGAGCATTGGCA-3'

PrimerBank ID# 18765741a1

SNAI2: 5'-ATATTCGGACCCACACATTACCT-3'

5'-GCAAATGCTCTGTTGCAGTGA-3'

PrimerBank ID# 11276067a3

VIM: 5'-AGAACTTTGCCGTTGAAGCTG-3'

5'-CCACAGGGAGTGAATCCAGATTA-3'

PrimerBank ID# 4507895a2

LOX: 5'-ATGAGTTTAGCCACTTGTACCTGCTT-3'

5'-AAACTTGCTTTGTGGCCTTCA-3' [154]

Values were obtained for the threshold cycle (Ct) for each gene and normalized to β -actin. Values are provided as fold change. For some experiments, cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for 1, 3, 8, or 24 hours before RNA extraction.

2.13 Mouse tumor experiments

Tumor lysates from nude mice bearing orthotopic pancreatic tumors of FG cells were generously provided by Jay S. Desgrosellier, a senior member of the Cheresh lab. The mice were treated with vehicle or Src inhibitor (dasatinib [57], 30 mg/kg, ChemieTek) twice daily by oral gavage for four weeks as previously described.[79]

2.14 Statistical analysis

Data presented represent mean \pm s.e.m. Statistical analyses were performed with Excel (Microsoft) or Prism (GraphPad). Statistical differences for one factor between two groups or more than two groups were determined with an unpaired Student's *t*-test or an analysis of variance (ANOVA) with *post-hoc* testing, respectively. Statistical significance was defined as *P* < 0.05. Chapter 3

Identification of novel candidate effectors of tumor cell metastasis mediated by EGFR and Src

3.1 Introduction

EGFR and Src signaling have been demonstrated to play essential roles in tumor cell migration and metastasis. Therefore, it is important to characterize the molecular mechanisms by which EGFR and Src signaling enhance cell motility.

We previously demonstrated two distinct pathways of tumor cell migration and metastasis that differ based on their dependence of EGFmediated Src kinase activity and the activation of integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5.[41, 73] While integrin $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ – the only vitronectin receptor in these cells – is unable to initiate FG human pancreatic carcinoma cell migration/invasion in the absence of growth factor stimulation [81], EGF stimulation enhances the ability of cells expressing integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ to invade *in vitro* and metastasize *in vivo*.[41, 73] Furthermore, cell migration and metastasis mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ requires EGF-dependent activation of Src, and activated Src is sufficient for carcinoma cell migration and metastasis.[41] In contrast, tumor cell migration mediated by β1 integrins is independent of EGFR and Src activity.[41] Similarly, an EGF pre-treatment enhances spontaneous tumor cell metastasis without affecting primary tumor growth in the well-characterized embryonic chicken chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) model [153, 155] by activating Src kinase and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5.[41] Thus, EGF-induced tumor cell migration mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ serves as a surrogate assay for metastasis in vivo. Together,

30

these findings suggest that an EGFR/Src/ $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5 signaling axis promotes the metastatic spread of human carcinomas.

Here, we systematically evaluate EGFR and Src substrates taking an *in silico* approach to identify novel effector molecules essential for tumor cell metastasis mediated by EGFR and Src. Taking advantage of shRNA technology, we assessed the functional requirement of lead candidates in EGF-induced cell migration *in vitro*. We also evaluated the biological requirement of lead candidates in EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis using the chick CAM model. We show that the transmembrane glycoprotein MUC1 is required for EGF-induced pulmonary metastasis, but not primary tumor growth, of FG human pancreatic carcinoma cells.



Figure 3.1: Venn diagram depicting *in silico* approach to identifying novel effectors of tumor cell metastasis mediated by EGFR and Src. Known Src substrates and interactants and substrates of tyrosine phosphorylation following treatment with EGF were cross-referenced to identify common candidate effectors. Candidates were systematically evaluated for their association with cell migration and metastasis, overall survival and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.

3.2 <u>Results</u>

3.2.1 *In silico* screening approach identifies candidate effectors of tumor metastasis dependent on EGFR and Src

EGFR and Src signaling promote tumor cell metastasis.[14, 16, 41, 156, 157] EGFR controls various signaling pathways including those of the phosphoinositol-3-kinases, mitogen-activated protein kinases, and Janus kinases. In addition, activated EGFR recruits and activates Src, another key node in signaling pathways.[38, 39, 40] Importantly, we recently determined that EGF-induced metastasis requires activation of Src.[41] Therefore, we sought to identify novel effectors essential for tumor cell metastasis dependent on EGFR and Src activity using an *in silico* approach (**Figure 3.1**). Known Src substrates and interactants (n = 359) were cross-referenced with substrates of tyrosine phosphorylation following treatment with EGF (n = 174). Hits found in both categories (n = 53) were filtered for their association with cell migration, tumor cell metastasis, and cancer patient survival. Six lead candidates (*c*-Abl, Caspase-8, Cortactin, Mucin-1, Stat3 and Villin-1) were selected for initial follow-up.



Figure 3.2: Stable knockdown of six lead candidates in FG cells. Immunoblot of whole cell lysates from cells expressing a shRNA targeting each lead candidate or a control shRNA. Three or more clones were pooled to avoid non-specific clonal effects. Similar findings were observed in two independent experiments.





3.2.2 Functional validation of lead candidates reveals a requirement for MUC1, Caspase-8 and Cortactin in EGF-induced cell migration

To determine the functional relevance of lead candidates derived from our in silico screen in EGF-induced tumor metastasis, we first assessed their roles in EGF-induced cell migration as a surrogate assay for metastasis. Expression of each lead candidate was silenced by shRNA in FG human pancreatic carcinoma cells (Figure 3.2), which were then allowed to migrate through a Boyden chamber coated with a vitronectin or a fibronectin substrate following a 15 minute pre-treatment with vehicle control or EGF. As expected, EGF enhanced the migration on vitronectin for cells expressing a control shRNA (Figure 3.3). While knockdown of c-Abl, Stat3, or Villin-1 had no effect on EGF-induced cell migration, knockdown of MUC1, Caspase-8, or Cortactin abolished EGF-induced cell migration (Figure 3.3). This finding supports a role for MUC1, Caspase-8 and Cortactin in the EGF-dependent cell migratory response on vitronectin mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$, these cell's sole vitronectin receptor. In contrast, tumor cell migration on fibronectin mediated by β1 integrins was independent of EGF stimulation and each lead candidate since knockdown of the lead candidates had no effect on this migration response (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.4: MUC1 is required for EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis without affecting primary tumor growth. FG cells expressing a shRNA targeting each lead candidate or a control shRNA with or without a 15 minute pre-treatment of EGF were inoculated on to the chorioallantoic membrane of 10 day-old embryonated chicken eggs and assessed for spontaneous pulmonary metastasis (top) and primary tumor formation (bottom) after 10 days. Cells were washed with PBS prior to inoculation to remove EGF. Metastasis was quantified by Q-PCR for human *Alu* sequence and chicken *GAPDH* normalized to a standard curve. Results are expressed as mean ± s.e.m. of at least 18 eggs pooled from three independent experiments.

3.2.3 MUC1 is required for EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis but not primary tumor growth

We next assessed the biological relevance of MUC1, Caspase-8, and Cortactin in EGF-induced tumor metastasis *in vivo* using the wellcharacterized embryonic chick CAM model.[153, 155] FG cells stimulated with a 15 minute treatment of vehicle control or EGF were implanted on the CAM of 10 day-old chick embryos and allowed to spontaneously metastasize to the lungs. As expected, EGF enhanced the pulmonary metastasis of cells expressing a control shRNA (**Figure 3.4**). With knockdown of Caspase-8, we observed a trend for enhanced metastasis with EGF stimulation (**Figure 3.4**). Knockdown of Cortactin eliminated EGF-induced metastasis but enhanced pulmonary metastasis in the absence of EGF when compared to cells expressing a control shRNA (**Figure 3.4**). Importantly, knockdown of MUC1 abolished EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis without preventing primary tumor growth (**Figure 3.4**). Altogether then, these data support an essential role for MUC1 in EGF-induced metastasis of FG cells.



Figure 3.5: Effect of MUC1 knockdown on integrin expression. Cell surface expression of integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ (left) and $\beta1$ integrins (right) were assessed by FACS in FG cells expressing a control shRNA or MUC1 shRNA. Integrins were detected with mouse anti-human $\alpha\nu\beta5$ (P1F6) or $\beta1$ (P4C10). MUC1 knockdown slightly reduces surface expression of both $\alpha\nu\beta5$ and $\beta1$ integrins. Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.



Figure 3.6: MUC1 knockdown has no significant effect on cell viability. FG cells expressing a control shRNA or MUC1 shRNA were incubated for varying amounts of time and cell viability was assessed by XTT assay. Results are expressed as mean ± s.e.m. of six replicates. Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.

3.2.4 Effect of MUC1 knockdown on integrin expression

The heavily glycosylated ectodomain of MUC1 extends over 100 nm from the cell surface, well beyond the 10 nm glycocalyx.[119] As such, MUC1 has been demonstrated to both enhance and disrupt cell-matrix adhesion mediated by β 1 integrins.[121, 158] Furthermore, knockdown of MUC1 has been shown to suppress expression of both α v and β 1 integrins.[159] Therefore, we considered whether knockdown of MUC1 in FG human pancreatic carcinoma cells inhibited integrin expression. Cell surface expression of both integrin α v β 5 and β 1 integrins was slightly suppressed by knockdown of MUC1 (**Figure 3.5**).

3.2.5 Knockdown of MUC1 does not inhibit tumor cell proliferation

MUC1 expression has been demonstrated to regulate tumor cell proliferation under two-dimensional [160, 161] and anchorage-independent [161, 162, 163] conditions. Likewise, MUC1 expression regulates tumor growth in subcutaneous [162] and orthotopic pancreatic mouse models.[158] Thus, we considered whether knockdown of MUC1 in FG cells inhibited cell proliferation. Cell viability as measured by XTT assay was not significantly affected by knockdown of MUC1 (**Figure 3.6**). This is consistent with our observation that primary tumor mass in the chick CAM model was not significantly changed by knockdown of MUC1 (**Figure 3.4**). These findings support a role for MUC1 in EGF-induced tumor cell migration and metastasis that is independent of cell viability *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

3.2.6 MUC1 knockdown does not impair EGFR signaling

MUC1 interacts with EGFR, and this interaction inhibits ligand-induced EGFR internalization and degradation.[101, 105, 106] We asked whether MUC1-mediated stabilization of EGF signaling might promote EGF-induced FG cell migration and metastasis. We observed that knockdown of MUC1 did not significantly suppress either basal surface expression of EGFR (**Figure 3.7**) or EGFR signaling in cells following treatment with EGF as measured by phospho-Tyrosine, EGFR pY1173 and Src pY416 (**Figure 3.7**). Likewise, MUC1 knockdown did not lead to enhanced ligand-induced EGFR degradation (**Figure 3.7**). These findings support a critical role for MUC1 in EGF-induced tumor cell migration and metastasis that is independent of EGFR recycling and general signaling.





Figure 3.7: MUC1 knockdown does not impair EGFR signaling. (a) Cell surface expression of EGFR was assessed by FACS in FG cells expressing a control shRNA or MUC1 shRNA (histogram). (b) Ligand-induced EGFR signaling was also assessed by immunoblot in cells treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for varying amounts of time. Similar findings were observed in two independent experiments.

3.3 Conclusions

Both EGFR and Src are key nodes of multiple signaling pathways, and both are associated with tumor progression and metastasis. We previously reported that EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis requires Src activity.[41] However, the precise molecular mechanisms by which EGF-induced Src activity promotes metastasis mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ are unknown. Here we systematically evaluate substrates of EGFR and Src signaling to identify novel effector molecules essential for EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis.

Among the lead candidate effectors evaluated in our study, MUC1 was found to be required for EGF-induced FG cell metastasis without affecting primary tumor formation. MUC1 has been linked to expression of EGFR and integrins and to cell proliferation, but we did not find evidence that knockdown of MUC1 affected these characteristics in FG cells. Therefore, the molecular mechanism by which MUC1 promotes EGF-induced FG cell metastasis will be explored in the subsequent work described in this dissertation. Chapter 4

MUC1 cleavage by EGFR and Src signaling promotes tumor cell metastasis

4.1 Abstract

Tumor metastasis is a primary contributor to morbidity and mortality in cancer. We recently reported that EGF and other cytokines induce human carcinoma cell invasion and metastasis that is prevented by antagonists of Src or integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5.[41, 82] In chapter 3, we demonstrated a requirement for MUC1 in EGF-induced FG cell metastasis in the chick CAM model without affecting primary tumor formation.

This chapter describes the finding that EGF stimulation promotes MUC1 cleavage and nuclear localization, resulting in the expression of genes linked to metastasis. The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain enhances FG cell migration on vitronectin *in vitro* and metastasis in the chick CAM model without enhancing primary tumor growth. Furthermore, pharmacological inhibition of Src kinase activity blocks both MUC1 cleavage and metastasis in mice. These findings establish MUC1 as a downstream effector of EGFR and Src signaling to promote FG cell invasion and metastasis.

4.2 Introduction

Tumor cell metastasis is a complex multi-step process involving local invasion, survival and colonization. Recent studies have revealed that cross-talk between growth factor receptors and integrins promotes carcinoma cell invasion and metastasis. Chapter 3 of this dissertation describes the finding that MUC1 is required for EGF-induced FG carcinoma cell migration on vitronectin and metastasis in the chick CAM model mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$, the only vitronectin receptor expressed by these cells.

The MUC1 transmembrane glycoprotein is expressed by normal epithelial cells, but it is sharply upregulated and aberrantly glycosylated in human neoplasms, where it is associated with metastasis.[88, 89, 90] MUC1 interacts with ErbB family members including EGFR and is a substrate for Src.[101, 102, 107, 136] Importantly, the role of MUC1 in metastasis is associated with its intracellular domain, which enters the nucleus and initiates the transcription of genes associated with tumor metastasis such as *TWIST1*.[130, 131, 133, 134]

In this chapter of the dissertation, it is proposed that EGF-induced Src kinase activity promotes tumor cell metastasis mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ by inducing MUC1 cleavage. We demonstrate that EGF stimulation of FG cells promotes MUC1 cleavage and nuclear translocation of an intracellular fragment. Furthermore, the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is required for EGF-

47

induced FG cell migration on vitronectin *in vitro*, and expression of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promotes spontaneous cell migration on vitronectin *in vitro* and pulmonary metastasis in the chick CAM model without enhancing primary tumor formation. In addition, we show that Src kinase activity is required for MUC1 cleavage using pharmacological and genetic approaches. Finally, pharmacological inhibition of Src in an orthotopic pancreatic mouse tumor model blocks both MUC1 cleavage and FG cell metastasis. These findings identify a pathway of EGF-induced tumor cell metastasis that is mediated by Src-dependent cleavage of MUC1 and the activation of a specific integrin to promote cell invasion.

4.3 <u>Results</u>

4.3.1 EGF treatment induces MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation

The MUC1 intracellular domain has been demonstrated to be a substrate of tyrosine phosphorylation in carcinoma cells following treatment with EGF [101, 131], FGF1 [131], HGF [130], and PDGF-BB [132]. Therefore, we asked whether EGF treatment induced tyrosine phosphorylation of MUC1 in FG cells. As expected, we observed that the MUC1 intracellular domain was tyrosine phosphorylated in cells following treatment with EGF (**Figure 4.1**).

4.3.2 EGF treatment induces MUC1 cleavage

Recent studies have demonstrated an important role for the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain in tumor cell invasion.[132, 150] Therefore, we considered whether EGF stimulation of FG cells could lead to cleavage of MUC1. To determine whether EGFR signaling induces cleavage of MUC1, whole cell lysates from FG cells treated with or without EGF were probed for the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain by immunoblotting. Within 5 minutes of EGF treatment, we observed increased levels of MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (**Figure 4.2**).



Figure 4.1: EGF treatment enhances MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation. Immunoblot detecting tyrosine phosphorylation of the MUC1 transmembrane subunit with EGF treatment. MUC1 was immunoprecipitated from whole cell lysates of FG cells treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for varying amounts of time and probed for phosphorylation on tyrosine. Membrane was stripped and reprobed for MUC1 as a loading control. Similar findings were observed in two independent experiments.



Figure 4.2: EGF treatment promotes cleavage of MUC1. Whole cell lysates from FG cells treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) were probed for MUC1 cleavage by immunoblot. Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.

4.3.3 MUC1 expression correlates with aggressiveness in pancreatic tumor cell lines

MUC1 is overexpressed and aberrantly glycosylated in human neoplasms, and its expression correlates with metastasis.[88, 89, 90, 103] Therefore, we asked whether MUC1 expression correlates to metastatic propensity of human pancreatic carcinoma cell lines. We found that whereas only one of four cell lines derived from primary tumors expressed MUC1, all four cell lines derived from liver metastases or ascites fluid expressed MUC1 (**Figure 4.3**). Importantly, we detected cleaved MUC1 cytoplasmic domain in these aggressive cell lines (**Figure 4.3**). These data suggest that expression of MUC1 is associated with more aggressive behavior.

4.3.4 The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is required for EGF-dependent cell migration

We next asked whether this EGF-dependent MUC1 cleavage product might play a role in EGF-dependent migration. To determine whether the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain was necessary for EGF-dependent migration, FG cells stably expressing MUC1 shRNA were transfected with shRNA-resistant full length MUC1 (MUC1.FL) or cytoplasmic domain-deleted MUC1 (MUC1.CT3) and allowed to migrate with a 15 minute pre-treatment of vehicle control or EGF. Whereas knockdown of MUC1 suppressed EGF-mediated cell migration on a vitronectin substrate, this response was reversed with



Figure 4.3: MUC1 expression correlates with tumor aggressiveness. Whole cell lysates from human pancreatic carcinoma cell lines were probed for MUC1 by immunoblot.

MUC1.FL but not MUC1.CT3 (**Figure 4.4**). In contrast, expression of either MUC1.FL or MUC1.CT3 did not significantly affect cell migration on a collagen substrate, consistent with our findings that MUC1 is not required for EGF-independent cell migration mediated by β 1 integrins (**Figure 4.4**).

4.3.5 The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is sufficient for carcinoma cell migration and metastasis

We next asked whether the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (MUC1.CD) was sufficient to induce migration of FG cells in the absence of EGF. Interestingly, expression of MUC1.CD in FG cells was sufficient to promote spontaneous migration on a vitronectin substrate without EGF treatment but did not significantly affect migration on a collagen substrate (**Figure 4.5**).

Given that MUC1 is required for both EGF-dependent and Srcdependent tumor cell migration and that both EGF treatment and active Src are promote MUC1 cleavage, we considered whether the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain might enhance tumor cell metastasis. We tested whether expression of MUC1.CD or MUC1.CT3 in FG cells could drive spontaneous pulmonary metastasis in the chick CAM model. Interestingly, expression of MUC1.CT3 significantly enhanced spontaneous pulmonary metastasis compared to control cells (**Figure 4.6**). However, MUC1.CD enhanced spontaneous pulmonary metastasis to an even greater degree (**Figure 4.6**). Importantly,
expression of MUC1.CT3 enhanced primary tumor formation compared to MUC1.CD (**Figure 4.6**). These data indicate the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promotes the spontaneous pulmonary metastasis of FG tumor cells without enhancing primary tumor growth in the chick CAM model.

4.3.6 Expression of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain enhances cell proliferation

MUC1 expression regulates tumor cell proliferation *in vitro* [160, 161, 162, 163] and *in vivo* [158, 162]. Therefore, we asked whether expression of MUC1.FL, MUC1.CT3 or MUC1.CD altered the growth characteristics of FG cells. Interestingly, all three MUC1 constructs enhanced cell proliferation in two-dimensional conditions as measured by XTT assay (**Figure 4.7**). Surprisingly, while MUC1.FL stimulated cell proliferation relative to cells expressing a vector control, MUC1.CT3 did so to a greater degree (**Figure 4.7**). Furthermore, expression of MUC1.CD enhanced cell proliferation even more than MUC1.CT3 (**Figure 4.7**).

4.3.7 EGF treatment induces nuclear translocation of the MUC1 intracellular domain

The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain has been demonstrated to translocate to the nucleus, where it promotes the transcription of various genes linked to



Figure 4.4: MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is required for EGF-induced cell migration. Migration assays on a vitronectin (top) or a collagen (bottom) substrate comparing FG cells co-expressing MUC1 shRNA and shRNAresistant full-legnth MUC1 (MUC1.FL) or cytoplasmic domain-deleted MUC1 (MUC1.CT3) with or without a 15 minute pre-treatment of EGF. Cells were washed with PBS prior to inoculation on Boyden chambers to remove EGF. Results are expressed as mean \pm s.e.m. of three replicates. Schematic illustration (top) of MUC1.FL and MUC1.CT3 protein products including ectodomain (white) and cytoplasmic domain (black). Immunoblot detecting MUC1 expression (right). Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments. P < 0.0001 comparing cells expressing MUC1.FL treated with vehicle control or EGF, P = 0.3 (ANOVA) for migration on collagen.



Figure 4.5: MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promotes cell migration mediated by integrin αvβ5. Migration assays on a vitronectin (left) or a collagen (right) substrate comparing FG cells expressing vector control or MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (MUC1.CD). Results are expressed as mean ± s.e.m. of three replicates. Schematic illustration (top) of full-length MUC1 (MUC1.FL) and MUC1.CD protein products including ectodomain (white) and cytoplasmic domain (black). Immunoblot detecting MUC1 expression (bottom). Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments. *P* = 0.0003 for migration on vitronectin, *P* = 0.2 for migration on collagen.



Figure 4.6: MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promotes spontaneous pulmonary tumor cell metastasis without enhancing primary tumor growth. FG cells expressing vector control, cytoplasmic domain-deleted MUC1 (MUC1.CT3), or MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (MUC1.CD) were inoculated on to the chorioallantoic membrane of 10 day-old embryonated chicken eggs and assessed for spontaneous pulmonary metastasis (left) and primary tumor formation (right) after 10 days. Metastasis was quantified by Q-PCR for human *Alu* sequence and chicken *GAPDH* normalized to a standard curve. Each point represents a separate egg, n \ge 6 eggs per group. Schematic illustration (top) of full-length MUC1 (MUC1.FL), MUC1.CT3 and MUC1.CD protein products including ectodomain (white) and cytoplasmic domain (black). *P* = 0.004 for cells expressing vector control or MUC1.CD, *P* < 0.05 for primary tumor mass of MUC1.CT3 compared to MUC1.CD.



Figure 4.7: Effect of MUC1 expression on cell viability. FG cells expressing vector control, full-length MUC1 (MUC1.FL), cytoplasmic domain-deleted MUC1 (MUC1.CT3) or MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (MUC1.CD) were incubated for varying amounts of time and cell viability was assessed by XTT assay. Results are expressed as mean ± s.e.m. of four replicates. Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.

tumor cell invasion and metastasis [128, 132, 133, 134, 164]. Therefore, we considered whether EGF stimulation of FG cells could lead to nuclear translocation of MUC1. To determine whether EGFR signaling induces nuclear translocation of MUC1, FG cells stimulated with a 15 minute treatment of vehicle control or EGF were probed for the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain by immunoblotting. EGF treatment increased the level of MUC1 cytoplasmic domain in the nuclei of these cells (**Figure 4.8**).

To further assess the role of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain in the nuclei of tumor cells, we expressed MUC1.FL or MUC1.CD fused to GFP and monitored the cells for MUC1 localization. In the absence of EGF, MUC1.FL localized to the plasma membrane (Figure 4.9). However, a 15 minute treatment with EGF significantly enhanced nuclear localization of MUC1 (Figure 4.9). Interestingly, we observed that MUC1.CD spontaneously localized to the nucleus in the absence of EGF (Figure 4.10). Importantly, following EGF treatment, we detected enhanced transcription of several MUC1 target genes linked to tumor cell invasion and metastasis including TWIST1. SNAI1, and SNAI2 (Figure 4.11). We observed that MUC1.CD spontaneously enhanced transcription of the same MUC1 target genes to a similar degree as EGF treatment (Figure 4.11). Together, these results indicate that EGFR signaling promotes translocation of the MUC1 cleavage product to the nucleus, where it regulates transcription of genes linked to invasion and metastasis.



Figure 4.8: EGF treatment induces MUC1 nuclear localization. Immunoblot detected MUC1 cytoplasmic domain showing enrichment of MUC1 cytoplasmic domain with EGF treatment (50 ng/mL) in the nuclear fraction of FG cells. Fraction purity and loading were determined by immunoblot for PARP (Nuclear, Nuc) and GAPDH (Cytoplasmic, Cyto). Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.



Figure 4.9: EGF treatment induces MUC1 nuclear localization. Representative images of immunofluorescence of MUC1.FL fused to GFP (MUC1.FL.GFP, green) with a 15 minute treatment with vehicle control or EGF. Nuclei are counter-stained with TO-PRO-3 (blue). Schematic illustration (top) of MUC1.FL.GFP including ectodomain (white), cytoplasmic domain (black) and GFP (hatched). Yellow arrows indicate cells with high levels of nuclear MUC1. Quantification of nuclear MUC1 (bar graph) is expressed as a percentage of total detectable MUC1 with n \ge 20 images per group from three independent experiments. Scale bar represents 10 µm. *P* < 0.0001 for nuclear MUC1 with vehicle control or EGF.



Figure 4.10: MUC1 cytoplasmic domain spontaneously localizes to the nucleus. Representative images of immunofluorescence of MUC1.CD fused to GFP (MUC1.CD.GFP, green). Nuclei are counter-stained with TO-PRO-3 (blue). Schematic illustration (top) of MUC1.FL.GFP and MUC1.CD.GFP including ectodomain (white), cytoplasmic domain (black) and GFP (hatched). Quantification of nuclear MUC1 (bar graph) is expressed as a percentage of total detectable MUC1 with n ≥ 20 images per group from three independent experiments. Scale bar represents 10 μ m. *P* < 0.0001 for nuclear MUC1 with MUC1.CD.GFP.



Figure 4.11: EGF treatment and MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promote expression of a metastasis signature. Quantitative RT-PCR of FG cells treated for 15 minutes with EGF (white) or expressing MUC1.CD (black) compared to either untreated or vector controls, respectively. For cells treated with EGF, peak expression over a 24 hour period are reported. Values have been normalized to β-actin.

4.3.8 Src is required for EGF-induced MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation

Given that MUC1 is a substrate for Src [107], we considered whether EGF-mediated MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation was Src-dependent. FG human pancreatic carcinoma cells were stimulated with a 15 minute treatment of vehicle control or EGF in the presence or absence of the Src inhibitor bosutinib and analyzed for the presence of MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation. As shown above, EGF stimulation led to MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation, and this was sensitive to Src inhibition (**Figure 4.12**). We next asked whether Src was sufficient to drive MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation in FG cells. Expression of constitutively active Src readily promoted MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation (**Figure 4.13**). Thus, both pharmacological and genetic approaches indicate that Src kinase activity is required for MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation.

4.3.9 Src is required for EGF-induced MUC1 cleavage and nuclear localization

Given that MUC1 is a substrate for Src kinase (**Figure 4.12**, **Figure 4.13**) [107], we considered whether EGF-mediated cleavage of MUC1 required Src kinase activity. FG cells were stimulated with a 15 minute treatment of vehicle control or EGF in the presence or absence of the Src inhibitor bosutinib and analyzed for the presence of intact and cleaved MUC1. As shown above, EGF stimulation enhanced MUC1 cleavage (**Figure 4.14**). However, pre-treatment with the Src inhibitor abolished EGF-induced MUC1



Figure 4.12: Src kinase activity is required for EGF-induced MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation. Immunoblot detecting tyrosine phosphorylation of the MUC1 transmembrane subunit. MUC1 was immunoprecipitated from whole cell lysates of FG cells treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) in the presence or absence of Src inhibitor (bosutinib, 500 nM) and probed for phosphorylation on tyrosine. Membrane was stripped and reprobed for MUC1 as a loading control. Similar findings were observed in two independent experiments.



Figure 4.13: Src promotes MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation. Immunoblot detecting tyrosine phosphorylation of the MUC1 transmembrane subunit. MUC1 was immunoprecipitated from whole cell lysates of FG cells transfected with either vector control or constitutively active Src and probed for phosphorylation on tyrosine. Membrane was stripped and reprobed for MUC1 as a loading control. Similar findings were observed in two independent experiments.



Figure 4.14: Src activity is required for EGF-induced MUC1 cleavage. Whole cell lysates from FG cells treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) in the presence or absence of Src inhibitor (bosutinib, 500 nM) were probed for MUC1 by immunoblot. Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.



Figure 4.15: Src activity promotes MUC1 cleavage. Whole cell lysates from FG cells transfected with either vector control or constitutively active Src were probed for MUC1 by immunoblot. Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.



Figure 4.16: Src activity promotes MUC1 nuclear localization. Immunoblot detecting MUC1 showing enrichment of MUC1 cytoplasmic domain in the nuclear fraction of FG cells transfected with constitutively active Src compared to vector control. Fraction purity and loading were determined by immunoblot for PARP (Nuclear, Nuc) and GAPDH (Cytoplasmic, Cyto). Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments.

cleavage (**Figure 4.14**). Conversely, expression of constitutively active Src in FG cells enhanced both MUC1 cleavage (**Figure 4.15**) and its nuclear localization (**Figure 4.16**). Therefore, both pharmacological and genetic approaches suggest that Src kinase activity promotes MUC1 cleavage and nuclear translocation.

4.3.10 MUC1 is required for Src-dependent cell migration, but cell migration mediated by MUC1.CD is Src-independent

Since active Src promotes spontaneous cell migration mediated by integrin αvβ5 [41] and our data indicates that Src kinase activity regulates cleavage of MUC1 (**Figure 4.15**), we asked whether Src-dependent cell migration required MUC1. FG cells expressing constitutively active Src were transfected with either non-silencing control siRNA or MUC1 siRNA and were then allowed to migrate through a Boyden chamber coated with a vitronectin or a collagen substrate. As expected, active Src enhanced cell migration on a vitronectin substrate (**Figure 4.17**). Interestingly, knockdown of MUC1 expression selectively blocked Src-dependent migration on vitronectin but had no effect on Src-independent migration on a collagen substrate (**Figure 4.17**).

Since MUC1.CD also promotes spontaneous cell migration on a vitronectin substrate, we asked whether this required Src kinase activity. FG cells expressing MUC1.CD were pre-treated for 30 minutes with vehicle

71

control or the Src inhibitor bosutinib prior to migration. MUC1.CD enhanced cell migration on a vitronectin substrate as expected, and this was insensitive to inhibition of Src kinase activity (**Figure 4.18**). Therefore, while MUC1 is required for cell migration driven by Src, Src kinase activity is not required for cell migration mediated by MUC1.CD.

4.3.11 Pharmacological inhibition of Src inhibits MUC1 cleavage and tumor cell metastasis *in vivo*

Given that Src regulates MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation, cleavage and nuclear localization in FG cells *in vitro*, we considered whether Src-mediated MUC1 cleavage in tumors *in vivo* might represent an unexpected effect of pharmacological inhibition of Src. To test whether Src was required for MUC1 cleavage *in vivo*, we took advantage of an orthotopic pancreatic tumor mouse model in which Src is required for metastasis to various secondary sites.[79] Briefly, FG cells are orthotopically implanted into the pancreata of nude mice and, over the course of six weeks, tumor cells spontaneously metastasize to the hepatic hilar lymph nodes, mesenteric lymph nodes and other tissues. Treatment of mice with a Src inhibitor (dasatinib, 30 mg/kg, twice daily for four weeks) inhibited both primary tumor growth and metastasis (**Figure 4.19**).[79] To test whether inhibition of Src activity in these tumors was associated with decreased levels of MUC1 cleavage, we assessed primary tumor lysates for the presence of cleaved MUC1. We observed that inhibition of Src activity

was associated with a decrease in levels of MUC1 cleavage product (Figure 4.19). These findings suggest that pharmacologic treatment of tumors with a Src inhibitor can block MUC1 cleavage and is associated with the suppression of tumor cell metastasis.



Figure 4.17: MUC1 is required for cell migration driven by Src. Migration assays on a vitronectin (left) or a collagen (right) substrate comparing FG cells co-expressing constitutively active Src and either a control siRNA or one of two unique MUC1 siRNAs. Results are expressed as mean \pm s.e.m. of three replicates. Immunoblot detecting MUC1 expression (bottom). Similar findings were observed in three independent experiments. *P* < 0.0001 comparing cells expressing vector control or active Src, *P* < 0.0001 comparing cells expressing control siRNA or MUC1 siRNA, *P* = 0.2 (ANOVA) for migration on collagen.



Figure 4.18: Cell migration driven by MUC1.CD is independent of Src activity. Migration assays on a vitronectin (top) or a collagen (middle) substrate comparing FG cells expressing MUC1.CD pre-treated with or without a 30 minute pre-treatment of Src inhibitor (bosutinib, 500 nM). Cells were washed with PBS prior to inoculation on Boyden chambers to remove Src inhibitor. Results expressed as mean \pm s.e.m. of three replicates. Similar findings were observed in two independent experiments. P = 0.7 for cells expressing MUC1.CD treated with vehicle control or Src inhibitor.



Figure 4.19: Src inhibitor blocks MUC1 cleavage *in vivo*. Primary tumor (top left) and hepatic hilar lymph node (top right) masses were assessed in a murine orthotopic pancreatic tumor model of FG cells treated with or without Src inhibitor (dasatinib, 30 mg/kg).[79] Immunoblot (bottom) detecting MUC1 cytoplasmic domain revealing decreased levels of MUC1 cleavage product with Src inhibitor treatment in primary tumor lysates. Densitometry quantification of MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (below immunoblot) is normalized to ERK2.



Figure 4.20: Model for MUC1 in metastasis dependent on EGFR and Src. (a) Migration and metastasis mediated by integrin avß5 requires EGFR and Src activation. (b) EGFR and Src activity promote proteolytic cleavage of MUC1 and release from the plasma membrane. (c) The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain translocates to the nucleus in association with transcription co-activators such as β -catenin, resulting in the transcription of a metastasis signature including TWIST1 and enhancement of tumor cell invasion and metastasis.



Figure 4.21: Hypotheses for mechanism of MUC1 cleavage dependent on EGFR and Src. (a) MUC1 interacts with EGFR and Src. (b) Src activity promotes tyrosine phosphorylation of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain, enhancing recognition of MUC1 by a protease. (c) Alternatively, Src enhances the activity of a protease which recognizes MUC1 as a substrate. Only γ-secretase, which is activated by Src activity[165], has been proposed to cleave MUC1.[166] (d) Protein sequence of the MUC1 transmembrane domain showing the predicted sites of γ-secretase cleavage.[166]

4.3.12 Summary of Results

- MUC1 is required for EGF-induced cell migration on vitronectin and metastasis in the chick CAM model
- EGF promotes MUC1 cleavage and nuclear localization
- The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is required for EGF-induced cell migration on vitronectin
- The MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is sufficient for spontaneous cell migration on vitronectin and metastasis in the chick CAM model
- EGF treatment and the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promote transcription of *TWIST1, SNAI1, SNAI2, VIM* and *LOX*
- Src kinase activity is required for EGF-induced MUC1 cleavage
- Constitutively active Src promotes MUC1 cleavage and nuclear localization
- MUC1 is required for cell migration on vitronectin dependent on Src kinase activity, but cell migration mediated by the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is insensitive to Src inhibition
- Treatment with a Src inhibitor in a murine orthotopic pancreatic tumor model suppresses spontaneous tumor metastasis and MUC1 cleavage

4.4 Conclusions

EGF treatment induced cleavage of MUC1 and nuclear localization of the MUC1 intracellular domain, and this enhanced the transcription of genes linked to metastasis such as *TWIST1*. Furthermore, expression of only the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promoted spontaneous metastasis without affecting primary tumor formation. Importantly, EGF-induced MUC1 processing was dependent on Src kinase activity, and inhibition of Src prevented MUC1 cleavage and spontaneous metastasis *in vivo*.

These findings shed new light on how EGFR and Src contribute to tumor cell metastasis. Interestingly, elevated tumor-associated MUC1 is also associated with *de novo* resistance to EGFR inhibitors.[143, 144] Conversely, seroconversion against MUC1 is associated with prolonged survival for breast and pancreatic cancer patients.[92, 93] Our studies suggest MUC1 as a relevant target for the prevention and treatment of metastatic disease.

Chapter 4, in part, is currently being prepared for submission for publication of the material. Lau SKM, Shields DJ, Murphy EA, Desgrosellier JS, Anand S, Huang M, Lim ST, Stupack DG, Schlaepfer DD, and Cheresh DA. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this material. Chapter 5

Discussion

5.1 EGFR and Src signaling in tumor metastasis

Tumor metastasis is an important contributor of cancer morbidity and mortality. Metastasis is a complex process resulting from a sequence of events including local invasion, intravasation, transport and survival in the vasculature, extravasation, and colonization. The mechanisms employed by tumor cells to this end are rooted in normal processes such as embryologic development and the leukocyte immune response. However, it is remarkable that not all tumor cells comprising the primary tumor are capable of successfully metastasizing.[5, 6, 7, 11, 12]

What distinguishes highly metastatic tumor cells from those with lower propensity for metastasis? This question is presently the subject of much scrutiny. Can we determine what cellular and molecular events dictate the likelihood that an individual cell will successfully colonize a distant site? The work in this dissertation addresses these fundamental questions in tumor biology by describing a signaling pathway that enhances tumor cell metastasis.

EGFR and Src are key signaling nodes both in normal and in pathological cellular processes including tumorigenesis and metastatic spread. The clinical use of targeted therapies for EGFR [33, 34] and Src [58, 59, 60, 61, 62] has been approved for several years, but cancer continues to be a leading cause of death in the United States. Since metastasis is responsible for most cancer deaths, elucidation of the molecular mechanisms driving tumor cell invasion and metastasis are essential for devising new strategies for the treatment of human cancers.

Integrins mediate tumor cell metastasis in several ways. Their primary function is to regulate cell adhesion, migration and invasion. While integrins promote cell death in the absence of ligation [78], integrin signaling in tumor cells deficient for this integrin-mediated death actually enhances metastasis.[79] Previous studies have revealed that cross-talk between receptor tyrosine kinases and integrins promote tumor cell metastasis.[41, 82] Importantly, we recently reported that EGFR and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ cooperatively regulate metastasis.[41] In the absence of growth factor stimulation, integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ is unable to initiate cell migration/invasion.[81] However, EGF stimulation enhances cell migration *in vitro* and metastasis *in vivo* that is mediated integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$.[73, 82] Moreover, EGF-dependent metastasis mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ requires Src activation.[41] Thus, an EGFR/Src/ $\alpha\nu\beta5$ signaling axis provides instructions to cells to initiate metastasis.

EGFR and Src signaling have essential roles in tumor cell metastasis, and are among the most well studied targets of modern therapies for cancer. Nonetheless, the precise contributions of EGFR and Src to metastasis remain poorly understood. Our *in silico* approach synthesized a wealth of information

83

collected from multiple sources and revealed novel effectors downstream of EGFR and Src signaling that were shown to be required for integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ mediated tumor cell migration and metastasis. It is remarkable that other candidates identified by our approach, such as EGFR and CAS (also known as p130CAS, Crk-associated substrate and breast cancer anti-estrogen resistance protein 1), have been demonstrated to be required for cell migration mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$.[41]

We methodically assessed the requirement of six lead candidates – all associated with tumor cell motility – in EGF-induced metastasis. One lead candidate, the pro-apoptotic protease Caspase-8, enhances the metastasis of apoptosis-resistant NB7 neuroblastoma cells by acting independently of its proteolytic activity as a scaffold for calpain-2.[167] Src-dependent phosphorylation of another lead candidate, Cortactin, is associated with pre-cancerous pancreatitis in a rat model [168] and invadopodia formation in MDA-MB-231 breast carcinoma cells.[169] While Caspase-8 and Cortactin were found to be required for EGF-induced cell migration *in vitro*, it is notable that other lead candidates (*c*-Abl, Stat3 and Villin-1) were not. We cannot exclude the possibility that residual expression of these candidate effectors was sufficient for EGF-induced cell migration.

Thus, EGFR and Src activity may contribute to tumor cell metastasis through multiple signaling pathways. This is supported by additional findings

84

that knockdown of either Src family kinases *c*-Src or Yes can suppress EGFinduced cell migration.[Miller Huang, unpublished observations] As such, our data indicate that EGFR and Src signaling could promote the metastasis of distinct subpopulations of tumor cells by means of activating different downstream partners. However, further studies will need to be completed to validate this hypothesis.

5.2 <u>MUC1 in tumor progression and metastasis</u>

The MUC1 transmembrane glycoprotein is normally found on the apical surface of ductal epithelial cells.[88] Malignant transformation results in loss of cell polarity, and MUC1 expression is frequently upregulated.[88] Since MUC1 expression is associated with distant metastasis and poor prognosis, MUC1 has become a target of interest for the treatment of human cancers.[88, 89, 90, 92] Here we identify MUC1 as a critical effector of EGF-induced FG cell migration *in vitro* (**Figure 3.3**) and metastasis in the chick CAM model (**Figure 3.4**).

MUC1 is synthesized as a single polypeptide chain, but is thought to be auto-proteolytically cleaved into a stable heterodimer.[117, 118] Interestingly, both MUC1 subunits have been linked to tumor progression and metastasis. The large extracellular subunit extends well beyond the glycocalyx [119] and inhibits cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion mediated by E-cadherin [120] and β1 integrins [121, 158], respectively. Conversely, the MUC1 ectodomain promotes adhesion and invasion by binding to endothelial ICAM-1 [122, 123] and E-selectin [124] and neural Siglec-4a. [125] Binding of MUC1 to these substrates has been reported to activate migration machinery such as the small Rho family GTPases Rac1 and Cdc42 via Src kinase.[123] Studies focused on the small transmembrane subunit have been focused on its role in signaling downstream of RTKs including ErbB family members [101, 102, 105, 128, 129], c-Met [130], FGFR [131] and PDGFR [132]. These signaling pathways direct the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain to various intracellular locations. For example, stimulation with either EGF or its related family member HRG promotes nuclear translocation of MUC1 in association with βor y-catenin, respectively.[128, 129, 142] Once in the nucleus, MUC1 enhances the expression of genes associated with tumor metastasis such as TWIST1.[130, 131, 133, 134] HRG stimulation is also reported to enhance MUC1 mitochondrial localization, where MUC1 promotes tumor cell survival in the presence of genotoxic agents [135, 136] The requirement for MUC1 in EGF-induced cell migration *in vitro* and metastasis in the chick CAM model might be explained by involvement of either or both MUC1 subunits.

We presented evidence supporting a critical role for the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain in EGF-induced tumor cell migration mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$. EGF treatment induced MUC1 cleavage (**Figure 3.9**), nuclear localization (**Figure 3.15**) and the expression of MUC1 target genes (**Figure** **3.18**). While expression of shRNA-resistant full-length MUC1 rescued EGFinduced cell migration in cells with MUC1 knockdown, expression of MUC1 lacking the cytoplasmic domain did not (**Figure 3.11**). Furthermore, expression of only the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain, which spontaneously localized to the nucleus, was sufficient to drive cell migration in vitro (Figure **3.12**) and metastasis *in vivo* without enhancing primary tumor growth (Figure **3.13**). Surprisingly, expression of MUC1 lacking the cytoplasmic domain (MUC1.CT3) also enhanced spontaneous metastasis to the lungs, albeit to a lesser degree than the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (Figure 3.13). Since MUC1.CT3 also enhanced cell proliferation *in vitro* (Figure 3.14) and tumor growth in vivo (Figure 3.13), MUC1.CT3 may promote metastasis via proliferation and survival. Alternatively, MUC1.CT3 may mediate metastasis by enhancing transendothelial migration through its previously reported association with ICAM-1 [122, 123] and E-selectin.[124] These data suggest that both the extracellular and intracellular domains of MUC1 contribute to metastasis through different mechanisms. Notably, the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain functions downstream of EGFR signaling to enhance integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5mediated cell migration, whereas the MUC1 ectodomain participates through a mechanism independent of cross-talk between EGFR and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$.

Two regions of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain have been reported to be required for its nuclear localization. First, a RRK sequence proximal to the plasma membrane has been proposed to function as a nuclear localization signal (more specifically, to the nucleoli) for MUC1-γ-catenin complexes following HRG stimulation.[129] Second, the CQC sequence also proximal to the plasma membrane is thought to mediate oligomerization of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain and association with nucleoporin p62.[170] Additional studies will be required to test whether these regions of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain are required for EGF-induced tumor metastasis.

5.3 <u>Interaction between MUC1 and Src promotes tumor</u> formation and metastasis

Does the MUC1 contribute to spontaneous tumor formation and progression? Several groups have studied the role of MUC1 in spontaneous tumorigenesis in murine models dependent on EGFR and Src activity. For example, whereas wild-type mice expressing transgenic TGF α uniformly develop mammary tumors which spontaneously metastasize, tumor formation in a *Muc1*^{-/-} background was delayed and metastasis was abolished.[104] Similarly, spontaneous tumor formation, growth and metastasis is suppressed in *Muc1*^{-/-} mice compared to wild-type mice in a well-established murine breast tumor model driven by polyoma middle T antigen.[138] Tumor development in this model is dependent on activation of Src [139], and tumors developing in *Muc1*^{-/-} mice exhibit decreased Src activity.[140] Interestingly, expression of transgenic MUC1 under control of the MMTV promoter results in spontaneous mammary tumor formation, and the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain is

required.[137] These findings suggest the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain has oncogenic characteristics. While transgenic MUC1 accelerates spontaneous pancreatic tumor formation and progression in mice expressing oncogenic $Kras^{G12D}$ [108, 171], the relationship between MUC1, EGFR and Src in spontaneous pancreatic tumorigenesis is unknown. We recently reported that activation of Src cooperates with oncogenic $Kras^{G12D}$ to accelerate pancreatic tumor development.[172] Crossing these mice with mice expressing transgenic MUC1 or cytoplasmic domain-deleted MUC1 and $Muc1^{-/-}$ mice would expand our understanding of how MUC1 contributes to pancreatic tumor formation and progression.

Src is known to interact with and phosphorylate the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain [107, 136, 140], but how does this promote malignancy? As described above, tyrosine phosphorylation of MUC1 mediates its interaction with other proteins including β-catenin [142], HSP90 [136] and CrkL.[123] While the functional significance of these phosphorylation-dependent interactions is poorly understood, it is clear that MUC1 is a direct substrate of Src.[123, 136, 141, 142] We demonstrated that Src kinase activity is required for EGF-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain (**Figure 3.19**). Furthermore, we observed an unexpected effect of interaction between MUC1 and Src, wherein Src activity promotes MUC1 cleavage (**Figure 3.22**) and nuclear localization (**Figure 3.23**). What is the functional consequence of Src-dependent MUC1 cleavage? Src activity drives cell migration mediated by

integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$.[41] Here we reported that MUC1 is required for Src-dependent cell migration (**Figure 3.24**). In contrast, expression of the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain induces cell migration mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ that is insensitive to pharmacological inhibition of Src activity (**Figure 3.25**). We also demonstrated that pharmacological inhibition of Src activity in an orthotopic mouse model of pancreatic cancer suppressed both primary tumor growth and distant metastasis and was associated with decreased MUC1 cleavage product (**Figure 3.26**). Our findings are consistent with the hypothesis that Srcdependent MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation promotes its cleavage, leading to cell migration mediated by a specific integrin. Alternatively, Src activity could enhance the ability of a yet undefined protease to cleave MUC1. Further studies will be required to establish whether either or both of these possibilities are true.

5.4 <u>Therapeutic applications</u>

Substantial progress has been made towards the development and use of pharmacological inhibitors of EGFR [33, 34] and Src [58, 59, 60, 61, 62] in the treatment of human cancer. Our findings may explain in part how inhibitors of EGFR and Src can suppress the metastatic potential of tumor cells expressing MUC1. Likewise, targeting integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$ represents a therapeutic approach to preventing the metastatic spread of tumors expressing EGFR, Src or MUC1. In addition, MUC1 has recently become a
target of clinical interest, and several MUC1 vaccines designed to initiate and sustain an immune response to extracellular MUC1 on tumor cells are currently in phase 3 clinical trials. However, given that the MUC1 cytoplasmic domain promotes tumor metastasis independent of the MUC1 ectodomain, our studies suggest that such therapies targeting the extracellular domain of MUC1 may provide limited clinical benefit. Therefore, recent preclinical studies using peptide [145, 146, 147] and small molecule [148] antagonists of the MUC1 intracellular domain are of particular interest.

5.5 <u>Summary</u>

Metastasis is a fearful step in tumor progression associated with morbidity and mortality and comprised of a sequence of complex events including local invasion. Great attention is being paid to the cellular and molecular mechanisms leading to metastasis. However, we are just beginning to understand the cues that stimulate and sustain tumor dissemination to secondary sites. The work in this dissertation sheds new light on a signaling pathway instructing human carcinoma cells to invade and metastasize.

Signaling from EGFR and Src lends instruction to the seemingly stochastic process of carcinoma cell metastasis, specifically that which is mediated by integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$. However, the downstream molecular mechanisms initiated by these key signaling nodes to enhance metastasis are not well-defined. MUC1 is a well-established cancer antigen, and contemporary

reports are revealing previously undiscovered signaling roles for MUC1 in tumor progression. Our work demonstrates that activation of Src kinase by EGFR signaling leads to cleavage and nuclear translocation of MUC1, which promotes transcription of genes associated with metastasis including *TWIST1*. Therefore, the work presented herein proposes that EGFR-dependent expression of MUC1 target genes, in cooperation with integrin $\alpha\nu\beta5$, regulate tumor cell metastasis.

Appendix

Sources consulted for substrates of tyrosine phosphorylation following EGF treatment and Src substrates and interactants are as follows:

- Biomolecular Interaction Network Database (BIND, http://www.bind.ca) accessed May 5, 2009
- Human Protein Reference Database (HPRD, http://www.hprd.org) accessed March 24, 2008
- Molecular Interactions Database (MINT, http://mint.bio.uniroma2.it/mint) accessed May 8, 2009
- IntAct (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/intact) accessed May 7, 2009
- EGF signaling phosphotyrosine: [173, 174, 175, 176, 177]
- Src signaling phosphotyrosine: [178, 179, 180]

Works Cited

- 1. Nordling CO. (1953). A new theory on cancer-inducing mechanism. *Br J Cancer* **7**(1): p. 68-72.
- 2. Knudson AG, Jr. (1971). Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **68**(4): p. 820-3.
- Vogelstein B, Fearon ER, Hamilton SR, Kern SE, Preisinger AC, Leppert M, Nakamura Y, White R, Smits AM, and Bos JL. (1988). Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. *N Engl J Med* 319(9): p. 525-32.
- 4. Cubilla AL and Fitzgerald PJ. (1976). Morphological lesions associated with human primary invasive nonendocrine pancreas cancer. *Cancer Res* **36**(7 PT 2): p. 2690-8.
- 5. Fidler IJ and Kripke ML. (1977). Metastasis results from preexisting variant cells within a malignant tumor. *Science* **197**(4306): p. 893-5.
- 6. Dexter DL, Kowalski HM, Blazar BA, Fligiel Z, Vogel R, and Heppner GH. (1978). Heterogeneity of tumor cells from a single mouse mammary tumor. *Cancer Res* **38**(10): p. 3174-81.
- Baylin SB, Weisburger WR, Eggleston JC, Mendelsohn G, Beaven MA, Abeloff MD, and Ettinger DS. (1978). Variable content of histaminase, L-dopa decarboxylase and calcitonin in small-cell carcinoma of the lung. Biologic and clinical implications. *N Engl J Med* 299(3): p. 105-10.
- 8. *Cancer Medicine*. 8th ed. Eds. Hong WK, Bast RC, Jr., Hait WN, Kufe D, Pollock RE, Weichselbaum R, Holland JF, and Frei E, III. Shelton, CT: People's Medical Publishing House-USA, 2009.
- 9. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, and Forman D. (2011). Global cancer statistics. *CA Cancer J Clin* **61**(2): p. 69-90.
- 10. Jemal A, Siegel R, Xu J, and Ward E. (2010). Cancer statistics, 2010. *CA Cancer J Clin* **60**(5): p. 277-300.
- 11. Zeidman I, Mc CM, and Coman DR. (1950). Factors affecting the number of tumor metastases; experiments with a transplantable mouse tumor. *Cancer Res* **10**(6): p. 357-9.

- 12. Fidler IJ. (1970). Metastasis: quantitative analysis of distribution and fate of tumor emboliabeled with 125 I-5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **45**(4): p. 773-82.
- Kang Y, Siegel PM, Shu W, Drobnjak M, Kakonen SM, Cordon-Cardo C, Guise TA, and Massague J. (2003). A multigenic program mediating breast cancer metastasis to bone. *Cancer Cell* 3(6): p. 537-49.
- 14. Zhang XH, Wang Q, Gerald W, Hudis CA, Norton L, Smid M, Foekens JA, and Massague J. (2009). Latent bone metastasis in breast cancer tied to Src-dependent survival signals. *Cancer Cell* **16**(1): p. 67-78.
- 15. Minn AJ, Gupta GP, Siegel PM, Bos PD, Shu W, Giri DD, Viale A, Olshen AB, Gerald WL, and Massague J. (2005). Genes that mediate breast cancer metastasis to lung. *Nature* **436**(7050): p. 518-24.
- Bos PD, Zhang XH, Nadal C, Shu W, Gomis RR, Nguyen DX, Minn AJ, van de Vijver MJ, Gerald WL, Foekens JA, and Massague J. (2009). Genes that mediate breast cancer metastasis to the brain. *Nature* 459(7249): p. 1005-9.
- Yachida S, Jones S, Bozic I, Antal T, Leary R, Fu B, Kamiyama M, Hruban RH, Eshleman JR, Nowak MA, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, and Iacobuzio-Donahue CA. (2010). Distant metastasis occurs late during the genetic evolution of pancreatic cancer. *Nature* 467(7319): p. 1114-7.
- Campbell PJ, Yachida S, Mudie LJ, Stephens PJ, Pleasance ED, Stebbings LA, Morsberger LA, Latimer C, McLaren S, Lin ML, McBride DJ, Varela I, Nik-Zainal SA, Leroy C, Jia M, Menzies A, Butler AP, Teague JW, Griffin CA, Burton J, Swerdlow H, Quail MA, Stratton MR, lacobuzio-Donahue C, and Futreal PA. (2010). The patterns and dynamics of genomic instability in metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Nature* 467(7319): p. 1109-13.
- Hermann PC, Huber SL, Herrler T, Aicher A, Ellwart JW, Guba M, Bruns CJ, and Heeschen C. (2007). Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. *Cell Stem Cell* 1(3): p. 313-23.
- Pang R, Law WL, Chu AC, Poon JT, Lam CS, Chow AK, Ng L, Cheung LW, Lan XR, Lan HY, Tan VP, Yau TC, Poon RT, and Wong BC. (2010). A subpopulation of CD26+ cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity in human colorectal cancer. *Cell Stem Cell* 6(6): p. 603-15.

- 21. Cohen S. (1962). Isolation of a mouse submaxillary gland protein accelerating incisor eruption and eyelid opening in the new-born animal. *J Biol Chem* **237**(5): p. 1555-62.
- 22. Carpenter G, King L, Jr., and Cohen S. (1978). Epidermal growth factor stimulates phosphorylation in membrane preparations in vitro. *Nature* **276**(5686): p. 409-10.
- 23. Cohen S and Carpenter G. (1975). Human epidermal growth factor: isolation and chemical and biological properties. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **72**(4): p. 1317-21.
- 24. Cohen S, Carpenter G, and King L, Jr. (1980). Epidermal growth factorreceptor-protein kinase interactions. Co-purification of receptor and epidermal growth factor-enhanced phosphorylation activity. *J Biol Chem* **255**(10): p. 4834-42.
- 25. Yamamoto T, Nishida T, Miyajima N, Kawai S, Ooi T, and Toyoshima K. (1983). The erbB gene of avian erythroblastosis virus is a member of the src gene family. *Cell* **35**(1): p. 71-8.
- Downward J, Yarden Y, Mayes E, Scrace G, Totty N, Stockwell P, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J, and Waterfield MD. (1984). Close similarity of epidermal growth factor receptor and v-erb-B oncogene protein sequences. *Nature* **307**(5951): p. 521-7.
- 27. Ullrich A, Coussens L, Hayflick JS, Dull TJ, Gray A, Tam AW, Lee J, Yarden Y, Libermann TA, Schlessinger J, and et al. (1984). Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. *Nature* **309**(5967): p. 418-25.
- 28. Barton CM, Hall PA, Hughes CM, Gullick WJ, and Lemoine NR. (1991). Transforming growth factor alpha and epidermal growth factor in human pancreatic cancer. *J Pathol* **163**(2): p. 111-6.
- 29. Korc M, Chandrasekar B, Yamanaka Y, Friess H, Buchier M, and Beger HG. (1992). Overexpression of the epidermal growth factor receptor in human pancreatic cancer is associated with concomitant increases in the levels of epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor alpha. *J Clin Invest* **90**(4): p. 1352-60.

- 30. Lemoine NR, Hughes CM, Barton CM, Poulsom R, Jeffery RE, Kloppel G, Hall PA, and Gullick WJ. (1992). The epidermal growth factor receptor in human pancreatic cancer. *J Pathol* **166**(1): p. 7-12.
- Kawamoto T, Sato JD, Le A, Polikoff J, Sato GH, and Mendelsohn J. (1983). Growth stimulation of A431 cells by epidermal growth factor: identification of high-affinity receptors for epidermal growth factor by an anti-receptor monoclonal antibody. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 80(5): p. 1337-41.
- Ward WH, Cook PN, Slater AM, Davies DH, Holdgate GA, and Green LR. (1994). Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase. Investigation of catalytic mechanism, structure-based searching and discovery of a potent inhibitor. *Biochem Pharmacol* 48(4): p. 659-66.
- Cunningham D, Humblet Y, Siena S, Khayat D, Bleiberg H, Santoro A, Bets D, Mueser M, Harstrick A, Verslype C, Chau I, and Van Cutsem E. (2004). Cetuximab monotherapy and cetuximab plus irinotecan in irinotecan-refractory metastatic colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 351(4): p. 337-45.
- Shepherd FA, Rodrigues Pereira J, Ciuleanu T, Tan EH, Hirsh V, Thongprasert S, Campos D, Maoleekoonpiroj S, Smylie M, Martins R, van Kooten M, Dediu M, Findlay B, Tu D, Johnston D, Bezjak A, Clark G, Santabarbara P, and Seymour L. (2005). Erlotinib in previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* 353(2): p. 123-32.
- 35. Halfon MS, Carmena A, Gisselbrecht S, Sackerson CM, Jimenez F, Baylies MK, and Michelson AM. (2000). Ras pathway specificity is determined by the integration of multiple signal-activated and tissuerestricted transcription factors. *Cell* **103**(1): p. 63-74.
- Flores GV, Duan H, Yan H, Nagaraj R, Fu W, Zou Y, Noll M, and Banerjee U. (2000). Combinatorial signaling in the specification of unique cell fates. *Cell* **103**(1): p. 75-85.
- Xu C, Kauffmann RC, Zhang J, Kladny S, and Carthew RW. (2000). Overlapping activators and repressors delimit transcriptional response to receptor tyrosine kinase signals in the Drosophila eye. *Cell* **103**(1): p. 87-97.
- 38. Luttrell DK, Lee A, Lansing TJ, Crosby RM, Jung KD, Willard D, Luther M, Rodriguez M, Berman J, and Gilmer TM. (1994). Involvement of

pp60c-src with two major signaling pathways in human breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **91**(1): p. 83-7.

- 39. Maa MC, Leu TH, McCarley DJ, Schatzman RC, and Parsons SJ. (1995). Potentiation of epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated oncogenesis by c-Src: implications for the etiology of multiple human cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**(15): p. 6981-5.
- 40. Tice DA, Biscardi JS, Nickles AL, and Parsons SJ. (1999). Mechanism of biological synergy between cellular Src and epidermal growth factor receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**(4): p. 1415-20.
- 41. Ricono JM, Huang M, Barnes LA, Lau SK, Weis SM, Schlaepfer DD, Hanks SK, and Cheresh DA. (2009). Specific cross-talk between epidermal growth factor receptor and integrin alphavbeta5 promotes carcinoma cell invasion and metastasis. *Cancer Res* **69**(4): p. 1383-91.
- 42. Rous PA. (1911). Transmission of a malignant new growth by means of a cell-free filtrate. *JAMA* **56**: p. 198.
- 43. Czernilofsky AP, Levinson AD, Varmus HE, Bishop JM, Tischer E, and Goodman HM. (1980). Nucleotide sequence of an avian sarcoma virus oncogene (src) and proposed amino acid sequence for gene product. *Nature* **287**(5779): p. 198-203.
- 44. Takeya T, Feldman RA, and Hanafusa H. (1982). DNA sequence of the viral and cellular src gene of chickens. 1. Complete nucleotide sequence of an EcoRI fragment of recovered avian sarcoma virus which codes for gp37 and pp60src. *J Virol* **44**(1): p. 1-11.
- 45. Takeya T and Hanafusa H. (1982). DNA sequence of the viral and cellular src gene of chickens. II. Comparison of the src genes of two strains of avian sarcoma virus and of the cellular homolog. *J Virol* **44**(1): p. 12-8.
- 46. Sefton BM, Hunter T, Beemon K, and Eckhart W. (1980). Evidence that the phosphorylation of tyrosine is essential for cellular transformation by Rous sarcoma virus. *Cell* **20**(3): p. 807-16.
- 47. Hunter T and Sefton BM. (1980). Transforming gene product of Rous sarcoma virus phosphorylates tyrosine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **77**(3): p. 1311-5.

- 48. Shin NY, Dise RS, Schneider-Mergener J, Ritchie MD, Kilkenny DM, and Hanks SK. (2004). Subsets of the major tyrosine phosphorylation sites in Crk-associated substrate (CAS) are sufficient to promote cell migration. *J Biol Chem* **279**(37): p. 38331-7.
- 49. Brabek J, Constancio SS, Shin NY, Pozzi A, Weaver AM, and Hanks SK. (2004). CAS promotes invasiveness of Src-transformed cells. *Oncogene* **23**(44): p. 7406-15.
- 50. Eliceiri BP, Puente XS, Hood JD, Stupack DG, Schlaepfer DD, Huang XZ, Sheppard D, and Cheresh DA. (2002). Src-mediated coupling of focal adhesion kinase to integrin alpha(v)beta5 in vascular endothelial growth factor signaling. *J Cell Biol* **157**(1): p. 149-60.
- 51. Behrens J, Vakaet L, Friis R, Winterhager E, Van Roy F, Mareel MM, and Birchmeier W. (1993). Loss of epithelial differentiation and gain of invasiveness correlates with tyrosine phosphorylation of the E-cadherin/beta-catenin complex in cells transformed with a temperature-sensitive v-SRC gene. *J Cell Biol* **120**(3): p. 757-66.
- 52. Talamonti MS, Roh MS, Curley SA, and Gallick GE. (1993). Increase in activity and level of pp60c-src in progressive stages of human colorectal cancer. *J Clin Invest* **91**(1): p. 53-60.
- 53. Lutz MP, Esser IB, Flossmann-Kast BB, Vogelmann R, Luhrs H, Friess H, Buchler MW, and Adler G. (1998). Overexpression and activation of the tyrosine kinase Src in human pancreatic carcinoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **243**(2): p. 503-8.
- 54. Coppola D. (2000). Molecular prognostic markers in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Control* **7**(5): p. 421-7.
- 55. Bolen JB, Veillette A, Schwartz AM, DeSeau V, and Rosen N. (1987). Activation of pp60c-src protein kinase activity in human colon carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**(8): p. 2251-5.
- 56. Ottenhoff-Kalff AE, Rijksen G, van Beurden EA, Hennipman A, Michels AA, and Staal GE. (1992). Characterization of protein tyrosine kinases from human breast cancer: involvement of the c-src oncogene product. *Cancer Res* **52**(17): p. 4773-8.
- 57. Lombardo LJ, Lee FY, Chen P, Norris D, Barrish JC, Behnia K, Castaneda S, Cornelius LA, Das J, Doweyko AM, Fairchild C, Hunt JT, Inigo I, Johnston K, Kamath A, Kan D, Klei H, Marathe P, Pang S,

Peterson R, Pitt S, Schieven GL, Schmidt RJ, Tokarski J, Wen ML, Wityak J, and Borzilleri RM. (2004). Discovery of N-(2-chloro-6-methyl-phenyl)-2-(6-(4-(2-hydroxyethyl)- piperazin-1-yl)-2-methylpyrimidin-4-ylamino)thiazole-5-carboxamide (BMS-354825), a dual Src/Abl kinase inhibitor with potent antitumor activity in preclinical assays. *J Med Chem* **47**(27): p. 6658-61.

- 58. Hochhaus A, Kantarjian HM, Baccarani M, Lipton JH, Apperley JF, Druker BJ, Facon T, Goldberg SL, Cervantes F, Niederwieser D, Silver RT, Stone RM, Hughes TP, Muller MC, Ezzeddine R, Countouriotis AM, and Shah NP. (2007). Dasatinib induces notable hematologic and cytogenetic responses in chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia after failure of imatinib therapy. *Blood* **109**(6): p. 2303-9.
- 59. Guilhot F, Apperley J, Kim DW, Bullorsky EO, Baccarani M, Roboz GJ, Amadori S, de Souza CA, Lipton JH, Hochhaus A, Heim D, Larson RA, Branford S, Muller MC, Agarwal P, Gollerkeri A, and Talpaz M. (2007). Dasatinib induces significant hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with imatinib-resistant or -intolerant chronic myeloid leukemia in accelerated phase. *Blood* **109**(10): p. 4143-50.
- Kantarjian H, Pasquini R, Hamerschlak N, Rousselot P, Holowiecki J, Jootar S, Robak T, Khoroshko N, Masszi T, Skotnicki A, Hellmann A, Zaritsky A, Golenkov A, Radich J, Hughes T, Countouriotis A, and Shah N. (2007). Dasatinib or high-dose imatinib for chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia after failure of first-line imatinib: a randomized phase 2 trial. *Blood* **109**(12): p. 5143-50.
- 61. Cortes J, Rousselot P, Kim DW, Ritchie E, Hamerschlak N, Coutre S, Hochhaus A, Guilhot F, Saglio G, Apperley J, Ottmann O, Shah N, Erben P, Branford S, Agarwal P, Gollerkeri A, and Baccarani M. (2007). Dasatinib induces complete hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with imatinib-resistant or -intolerant chronic myeloid leukemia in blast crisis. *Blood* **109**(8): p. 3207-13.
- 62. Ottmann O, Dombret H, Martinelli G, Simonsson B, Guilhot F, Larson RA, Rege-Cambrin G, Radich J, Hochhaus A, Apanovitch AM, Gollerkeri A, and Coutre S. (2007). Dasatinib induces rapid hematologic and cytogenetic responses in adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia with resistance or intolerance to imatinib: interim results of a phase 2 study. *Blood* **110**(7): p. 2309-15.

- 63. Desgrosellier JS and Cheresh DA. (2010). Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Cancer* **10**(1): p. 9-22.
- 64. Parise LV and Phillips DR. (1986). Fibronectin-binding properties of the purified platelet glycoprotein IIb-IIIa complex. *J Biol Chem* **261**(30): p. 14011-7.
- 65. Gailit J and Ruoslahti E. (1988). Regulation of the fibronectin receptor affinity by divalent cations. *J Biol Chem* **263**(26): p. 12927-32.
- 66. Klinghoffer RA, Sachsenmaier C, Cooper JA, and Soriano P. (1999). Src family kinases are required for integrin but not PDGFR signal transduction. *EMBO J* **18**(9): p. 2459-71.
- 67. Arias-Salgado EG, Lizano S, Sarkar S, Brugge JS, Ginsberg MH, and Shattil SJ. (2003). Src kinase activation by direct interaction with the integrin beta cytoplasmic domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**(23): p. 13298-302.
- Schaller MD, Borgman CA, Cobb BS, Vines RR, Reynolds AB, and Parsons JT. (1992). pp125FAK a structurally distinctive protein-tyrosine kinase associated with focal adhesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89(11): p. 5192-6.
- 69. Kornberg L, Earp HS, Parsons JT, Schaller M, and Juliano RL. (1992). Cell adhesion or integrin clustering increases phosphorylation of a focal adhesion-associated tyrosine kinase. *J Biol Chem* **267**(33): p. 23439-42.
- 70. Cardones AR, Murakami T, and Hwang ST. (2003). CXCR4 enhances adhesion of B16 tumor cells to endothelial cells in vitro and in vivo via beta(1) integrin. *Cancer Res* **63**(20): p. 6751-7.
- Engl T, Relja B, Marian D, Blumenberg C, Muller I, Beecken WD, Jones J, Ringel EM, Bereiter-Hahn J, Jonas D, and Blaheta RA. (2006).
 CXCR4 chemokine receptor mediates prostate tumor cell adhesion through alpha5 and beta3 integrins. *Neoplasia* 8(4): p. 290-301.
- Yang C, Zeisberg M, Lively JC, Nyberg P, Afdhal N, and Kalluri R. (2003). Integrin alpha1beta1 and alpha2beta1 are the key regulators of hepatocarcinoma cell invasion across the fibrotic matrix microenvironment. *Cancer Res* 63(23): p. 8312-7.

- 73. Klemke RL, Yebra M, Bayna EM, and Cheresh DA. (1994). Receptor tyrosine kinase signaling required for integrin alpha v beta 5-directed cell motility but not adhesion on vitronectin. *J Cell Biol* **127**(3): p. 859-66.
- 74. Pouliot N, Nice EC, and Burgess AW. (2001). Laminin-10 mediates basal and EGF-stimulated motility of human colon carcinoma cells via alpha(3)beta(1) and alpha(6)beta(4) integrins. *Exp Cell Res* **266**(1): p. 1-10.
- 75. Crouch S, Spidel CS, and Lindsey JS. (2004). HGF and ligation of alphavbeta5 integrin induce a novel, cancer cell-specific gene expression required for cell scattering. *Exp Cell Res* **292**(2): p. 274-87.
- 76. Moro L, Venturino M, Bozzo C, Silengo L, Altruda F, Beguinot L, Tarone G, and Defilippi P. (1998). Integrins induce activation of EGF receptor: role in MAP kinase induction and adhesion-dependent cell survival. *EMBO J* **17**(22): p. 6622-32.
- 77. Moro L, Dolce L, Cabodi S, Bergatto E, Boeri Erba E, Smeriglio M, Turco E, Retta SF, Giuffrida MG, Venturino M, Godovac-Zimmermann J, Conti A, Schaefer E, Beguinot L, Tacchetti C, Gaggini P, Silengo L, Tarone G, and Defilippi P. (2002). Integrin-induced epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor activation requires c-Src and p130Cas and leads to phosphorylation of specific EGF receptor tyrosines. *J Biol Chem* **277**(11): p. 9405-14.
- 78. Stupack DG, Puente XS, Boutsaboualoy S, Storgard CM, and Cheresh DA. (2001). Apoptosis of adherent cells by recruitment of caspase-8 to unligated integrins. *J Cell Biol* **155**(3): p. 459-70.
- Desgrosellier JS, Barnes LA, Shields DJ, Huang M, Lau SK, Prevost N, Tarin D, Shattil SJ, and Cheresh DA. (2009). An integrin alpha(v)beta(3)-c-Src oncogenic unit promotes anchorageindependence and tumor progression. *Nat Med* **15**(10): p. 1163-9.
- 80. Slamon DJ, Clark GM, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A, and McGuire WL. (1987). Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. *Science* **235**(4785): p. 177-82.
- 81. Leavesley DI, Ferguson GD, Wayner EA, and Cheresh DA. (1992). Requirement of the integrin beta 3 subunit for carcinoma cell spreading or migration on vitronectin and fibrinogen. *J Cell Biol* **117**(5): p. 1101-7.

- 82. Brooks PC, Klemke RL, Schon S, Lewis JM, Schwartz MA, and Cheresh DA. (1997). Insulin-like growth factor receptor cooperates with integrin alpha v beta 5 to promote tumor cell dissemination in vivo. *J Clin Invest* **99**(6): p. 1390-8.
- 83. Albelda SM, Mette SA, Elder DE, Stewart R, Damjanovich L, Herlyn M, and Buck CA. (1990). Integrin distribution in malignant melanoma: association of the beta 3 subunit with tumor progression. *Cancer Res* **50**(20): p. 6757-64.
- 84. Hosotani R, Kawaguchi M, Masui T, Koshiba T, Ida J, Fujimoto K, Wada M, Doi R, and Imamura M. (2002). Expression of integrin alphaVbeta3 in pancreatic carcinoma: relation to MMP-2 activation and lymph node metastasis. *Pancreas* **25**(2): p. e30-5.
- 85. Brooks PC, Clark RA, and Cheresh DA. (1994). Requirement of vascular integrin alpha v beta 3 for angiogenesis. *Science* **264**(5158): p. 569-71.
- 86. Brooks PC, Montgomery AM, Rosenfeld M, Reisfeld RA, Hu T, Klier G, and Cheresh DA. (1994). Integrin alpha v beta 3 antagonists promote tumor regression by inducing apoptosis of angiogenic blood vessels. *Cell* **79**(7): p. 1157-64.
- 87. Stupp R, Hegi ME, Neyns B, Goldbrunner R, Schlegel U, Clement PM, Grabenbauer GG, Ochsenbein AF, Simon M, Dietrich PY, Pietsch T, Hicking C, Tonn JC, Diserens AC, Pica A, Hermisson M, Krueger S, Picard M, and Weller M. (2010). Phase I/IIa study of cilengitide and temozolomide with concomitant radiotherapy followed by cilengitide and temozolomide maintenance therapy in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol* **28**(16): p. 2712-8.
- Kufe D, Inghirami G, Abe M, Hayes D, Justi-Wheeler H, and Schlom J. (1984). Differential reactivity of a novel monoclonal antibody (DF3) with human malignant versus benign breast tumors. *Hybridoma* 3(3): p. 223-32.
- 89. Monges GM, Mathoulin-Portier MP, Acres RB, Houvenaeghel GF, Giovannini MF, Seitz JF, Bardou VJ, Payan MJ, and Olive D. (1999). Differential MUC 1 expression in normal and neoplastic human pancreatic tissue. An immunohistochemical study of 60 samples. *Am J Clin Pathol* **112**(5): p. 635-40.

- 90. Chhieng DC, Benson E, Eltoum I, Eloubeidi MA, Jhala N, Jhala D, Siegal GP, Grizzle WE, and Manne U. (2003). MUC1 and MUC2 expression in pancreatic ductal carcinoma obtained by fine-needle aspiration. *Cancer* **99**(6): p. 365-71.
- Hayes DF, Sekine H, Ohno T, Abe M, Keefe K, and Kufe DW. (1985). Use of a murine monoclonal antibody for detection of circulating plasma DF3 antigen levels in breast cancer patients. *J Clin Invest* **75**(5): p. 1671-8.
- 92. von Mensdorff-Pouilly S, Verstraeten AA, Kenemans P, Snijdewint FG, Kok A, Van Kamp GJ, Paul MA, Van Diest PJ, Meijer S, and Hilgers J. (2000). Survival in early breast cancer patients is favorably influenced by a natural humoral immune response to polymorphic epithelial mucin. *J Clin Oncol* **18**(3): p. 574-83.
- Hamanaka Y, Suehiro Y, Fukui M, Shikichi K, Imai K, and Hinoda Y. (2003). Circulating anti-MUC1 IgG antibodies as a favorable prognostic factor for pancreatic cancer. *Int J Cancer* **103**(1): p. 97-100.
- 94. Swartz MJ, Batra SK, Varshney GC, Hollingsworth MA, Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Wilentz RE, Hruban RH, and Argani P. (2002). MUC4 expression increases progressively in pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia. *Am J Clin Pathol* **117**(5): p. 791-6.
- Saitou M, Goto M, Horinouchi M, Tamada S, Nagata K, Hamada T, Osako M, Takao S, Batra SK, Aikou T, Imai K, and Yonezawa S. (2005). MUC4 expression is a novel prognostic factor in patients with invasive ductal carcinoma of the pancreas. *J Clin Pathol* **58**(8): p. 845-52.
- 96. Bast RC, Jr., Feeney M, Lazarus H, Nadler LM, Colvin RB, and Knapp RC. (1981). Reactivity of a monoclonal antibody with human ovarian carcinoma. *J Clin Invest* **68**(5): p. 1331-7.
- 97. Bast RC, Jr., Klug TL, St John E, Jenison E, Niloff JM, Lazarus H, Berkowitz RS, Leavitt T, Griffiths CT, Parker L, Zurawski VR, Jr., and Knapp RC. (1983). A radioimmunoassay using a monoclonal antibody to monitor the course of epithelial ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* **309**(15): p. 883-7.
- 98. Velcich A, Yang W, Heyer J, Fragale A, Nicholas C, Viani S, Kucherlapati R, Lipkin M, Yang K, and Augenlicht L. (2002). Colorectal

cancer in mice genetically deficient in the mucin Muc2. *Science* **295**(5560): p. 1726-9.

- 99. Maratos-Flier E, Kao CY, Verdin EM, and King GL. (1987). Receptormediated vectorial transcytosis of epidermal growth factor by Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *J Cell Biol* **105**(4): p. 1595-601.
- Mullin JM and McGinn MT. (1988). Epidermal growth factor-induced mitogenesis in kidney epithelial cells (LLC-PK1). *Cancer Res* 48(17): p. 4886-91.
- 101. Li Y, Ren J, Yu W, Li Q, Kuwahara H, Yin L, Carraway KL, 3rd, and Kufe D. (2001). The epidermal growth factor receptor regulates interaction of the human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma antigen with c-Src and beta-catenin. J Biol Chem 276(38): p. 35239-42.
- 102. Schroeder JA, Thompson MC, Gardner MM, and Gendler SJ. (2001). Transgenic MUC1 interacts with epidermal growth factor receptor and correlates with mitogen-activated protein kinase activation in the mouse mammary gland. *J Biol Chem* **276**(16): p. 13057-64.
- 103. Rahn JJ, Dabbagh L, Pasdar M, and Hugh JC. (2001). The importance of MUC1 cellular localization in patients with breast carcinoma: an immunohistologic study of 71 patients and review of the literature. *Cancer* **91**(11): p. 1973-82.
- 104. Pochampalli MR, Bitler BG, and Schroeder JA. (2007). Transforming growth factor alpha dependent cancer progression is modulated by Muc1. *Cancer Res* **67**(14): p. 6591-8.
- 105. Pochampalli MR, el Bejjani RM, and Schroeder JA. (2007). MUC1 is a novel regulator of ErbB1 receptor trafficking. *Oncogene* **26**(12): p. 1693-701.
- 106. Ramasamy S, Duraisamy S, Barbashov S, Kawano T, Kharbanda S, and Kufe D. (2007). The MUC1 and galectin-3 oncoproteins function in a microRNA-dependent regulatory loop. *Mol Cell* **27**(6): p. 992-1004.
- 107. Li Y, Kuwahara H, Ren J, Wen G, and Kufe D. (2001). The c-Src tyrosine kinase regulates signaling of the human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated antigen with GSK3 beta and beta-catenin. *J Biol Chem* 276(9): p. 6061-4.

- Roy LD, Sahraei M, Subramani DB, Besmer D, Nath S, Tinder TL, Bajaj E, Shanmugam K, Lee YY, Hwang SI, Gendler SJ, and Mukherjee P. (2010). MUC1 enhances invasiveness of pancreatic cancer cells by inducing epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *Oncogene* **30**(12): p. 1449-59.
- 109. Pandey P, Kharbanda S, and Kufe D. (1995). Association of the DF3/MUC1 breast cancer antigen with Grb2 and the Sos/Ras exchange protein. *Cancer Res* **55**(18): p. 4000-3.
- 110. Li Y, Bharti A, Chen D, Gong J, and Kufe D. (1998). Interaction of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta with the DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated antigen and beta-catenin. *Mol Cell Biol* **18**(12): p. 7216-24.
- 111. Ren J, Li Y, and Kufe D. (2002). Protein kinase C delta regulates function of the DF3/MUC1 carcinoma antigen in beta-catenin signaling. *J Biol Chem* **277**(20): p. 17616-22.
- Carraway KL, 3rd, Rossi EA, Komatsu M, Price-Schiavi SA, Huang D, Guy PM, Carvajal ME, Fregien N, Carraway CA, and Carraway KL. (1999). An intramembrane modulator of the ErbB2 receptor tyrosine kinase that potentiates neuregulin signaling. *J Biol Chem* 274(9): p. 5263-6.
- Chaturvedi P, Singh AP, Chakraborty S, Chauhan SC, Bafna S, Meza JL, Singh PK, Hollingsworth MA, Mehta PP, and Batra SK. (2008). MUC4 mucin interacts with and stabilizes the HER2 oncoprotein in human pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 68(7): p. 2065-70.
- 114. Komatsu M, Jepson S, Arango ME, Carothers Carraway CA, and Carraway KL. (2001). Muc4/sialomucin complex, an intramembrane modulator of ErbB2/HER2/Neu, potentiates primary tumor growth and suppresses apoptosis in a xenotransplanted tumor. *Oncogene* 20(4): p. 461-70.
- 115. Rump A, Morikawa Y, Tanaka M, Minami S, Umesaki N, Takeuchi M, and Miyajima A. (2004). Binding of ovarian cancer antigen CA125/MUC16 to mesothelin mediates cell adhesion. *J Biol Chem* 279(10): p. 9190-8.
- 116. Kaneko O, Gong L, Zhang J, Hansen JK, Hassan R, Lee B, and Ho M. (2009). A binding domain on mesothelin for CA125/MUC16. *J Biol Chem* **284**(6): p. 3739-49.

- Levitin F, Stern O, Weiss M, Gil-Henn C, Ziv R, Prokocimer Z, Smorodinsky NI, Rubinstein DB, and Wreschner DH. (2005). The MUC1 SEA module is a self-cleaving domain. *J Biol Chem* 280(39): p. 33374-86.
- Macao B, Johansson DG, Hansson GC, and Hard T. (2006). Autoproteolysis coupled to protein folding in the SEA domain of the membrane-bound MUC1 mucin. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 13(1): p. 71-6.
- Bramwell ME, Wiseman G, and Shotton DM. (1986). Electronmicroscopic studies of the CA antigen, epitectin. *J Cell Sci* 86: p. 249-61.
- 120. Wesseling J, van der Valk SW, and Hilkens J. (1996). A mechanism for inhibition of E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion by the membrane-associated mucin episialin/MUC1. *Mol Biol Cell* **7**(4): p. 565-77.
- Wesseling J, van der Valk SW, Vos HL, Sonnenberg A, and Hilkens J. (1995). Episialin (MUC1) overexpression inhibits integrin-mediated cell adhesion to extracellular matrix components. *J Cell Biol* **129**(1): p. 255-65.
- 122. Rahn JJ, Chow JW, Horne GJ, Mah BK, Emerman JT, Hoffman P, and Hugh JC. (2005). MUC1 mediates transendothelial migration in vitro by ligating endothelial cell ICAM-1. *Clin Exp Metastasis* **22**(6): p. 475-83.
- 123. Shen Q, Rahn JJ, Zhang J, Gunasekera N, Sun X, Shaw AR, Hendzel MJ, Hoffman P, Bernier A, and Hugh JC. (2008). MUC1 initiates Src-CrkL-Rac1/Cdc42-mediated actin cytoskeletal protrusive motility after ligating intercellular adhesion molecule-1. *Mol Cancer Res* 6(4): p. 555-67.
- 124. Zhang K, Baeckstrom D, Brevinge H, and Hansson GC. (1996). Secreted MUC1 mucins lacking their cytoplasmic part and carrying sialyl-Lewis a and x epitopes from a tumor cell line and sera of colon carcinoma patients can inhibit HL-60 leukocyte adhesion to E-selectinexpressing endothelial cells. *J Cell Biochem* **60**(4): p. 538-49.
- 125. Swanson BJ, McDermott KM, Singh PK, Eggers JP, Crocker PR, and Hollingsworth MA. (2007). MUC1 is a counter-receptor for myelinassociated glycoprotein (Siglec-4a) and their interaction contributes to adhesion in pancreatic cancer perineural invasion. *Cancer Res* 67(21): p. 10222-9.

- 126. Thathiah A, Blobel CP, and Carson DD. (2003). Tumor necrosis factoralpha converting enzyme/ADAM 17 mediates MUC1 shedding. *J Biol Chem* **278**(5): p. 3386-94.
- Thathiah A and Carson DD. (2004). MT1-MMP mediates MUC1 shedding independent of TACE/ADAM17. *Biochem J* 382(Pt 1): p. 363-73.
- 128. Bitler BG, Goverdhan A, and Schroeder JA. (2010). MUC1 regulates nuclear localization and function of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Cell Sci* **123**(Pt 10): p. 1716-23.
- 129. Li Y, Yu WH, Ren J, Chen W, Huang L, Kharbanda S, Loda M, and Kufe D. (2003). Heregulin targets gamma-catenin to the nucleolus by a mechanism dependent on the DF3/MUC1 oncoprotein. *Mol Cancer Res* 1(10): p. 765-75.
- Singh PK, Behrens ME, Eggers JP, Cerny RL, Bailey JM, Shanmugam K, Gendler SJ, Bennett EP, and Hollingsworth MA. (2008).
 Phosphorylation of MUC1 by Met modulates interaction with p53 and MMP1 expression. *J Biol Chem* 283(40): p. 26985-95.
- 131. Ren J, Raina D, Chen W, Li G, Huang L, and Kufe D. (2006). MUC1 oncoprotein functions in activation of fibroblast growth factor receptor signaling. *Mol Cancer Res* **4**(11): p. 873-83.
- 132. Singh PK, Wen Y, Swanson BJ, Shanmugam K, Kazlauskas A, Cerny RL, Gendler SJ, and Hollingsworth MA. (2007). Platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta-mediated phosphorylation of MUC1 enhances invasiveness in pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells. *Cancer Res* 67(11): p. 5201-10.
- Roy LD, Sahraei M, Subramani DB, Besmer D, Nath S, Tinder TL, Bajaj E, Shanmugam K, Lee YY, Hwang SI, Gendler SJ, and Mukherjee P. (2011). MUC1 enhances invasiveness of pancreatic cancer cells by inducing epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *Oncogene* **30**(12): p. 1449-59.
- Behrens ME, Grandgenett PM, Bailey JM, Singh PK, Yi CH, Yu F, and Hollingsworth MA. (2010). The reactive tumor microenvironment: MUC1 signaling directly reprograms transcription of CTGF. *Oncogene* 29(42): p. 5667-77.

- Ren J, Agata N, Chen D, Li Y, Yu WH, Huang L, Raina D, Chen W, Kharbanda S, and Kufe D. (2004). Human MUC1 carcinoma-associated protein confers resistance to genotoxic anticancer agents. *Cancer Cell* 5(2): p. 163-75.
- 136. Ren J, Bharti A, Raina D, Chen W, Ahmad R, and Kufe D. (2006). MUC1 oncoprotein is targeted to mitochondria by heregulin-induced activation of c-Src and the molecular chaperone HSP90. *Oncogene* 25(1): p. 20-31.
- Schroeder JA, Masri AA, Adriance MC, Tessier JC, Kotlarczyk KL, Thompson MC, and Gendler SJ. (2004). MUC1 overexpression results in mammary gland tumorigenesis and prolonged alveolar differentiation. *Oncogene* 23(34): p. 5739-47.
- Spicer AP, Rowse GJ, Lidner TK, and Gendler SJ. (1995). Delayed mammary tumor progression in Muc-1 null mice. *J Biol Chem* 270(50): p. 30093-101.
- Guy CT, Muthuswamy SK, Cardiff RD, Soriano P, and Muller WJ. (1994). Activation of the c-Src tyrosine kinase is required for the induction of mammary tumors in transgenic mice. *Genes Dev* 8(1): p. 23-32.
- 140. Al Masri A and Gendler SJ. (2005). Muc1 affects c-Src signaling in PyV MT-induced mammary tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* **24**(38): p. 5799-808.
- 141. Li Q, Ren J, and Kufe D. (2004). Interaction of human MUC1 and betacatenin is regulated by Lck and ZAP-70 in activated Jurkat T cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **315**(2): p. 471-6.
- 142. Li Y, Chen W, Ren J, Yu WH, Li Q, Yoshida K, and Kufe D. (2003). DF3/MUC1 signaling in multiple myeloma cells is regulated by interleukin-7. *Cancer Biol Ther* 2(2): p. 187-93.
- 143. Bearz A, Talamini R, Vaccher E, Spina M, Simonelli C, Steffan A, Berretta M, Chimienti E, and Tirelli U. (2007). MUC-1 (CA 15-3 antigen) as a highly reliable predictor of response to EGFR inhibitors in patients with bronchioloalveolar carcinoma: an experience on 26 patients. *Int J Biol Markers* 22(4): p. 307-11.
- 144. Ishikawa N, Hattori N, Yokoyama A, Tanaka S, Nishino R, Yoshioka K, Ohshimo S, Fujitaka K, Ohnishi H, Hamada H, Arihiro K, and Kohno N. (2008). Usefulness of monitoring the circulating Krebs von den Lungen-

6 levels to predict the clinical outcome of patients with advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer treated with epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Int J Cancer* **122**(11): p. 2612-20.

- 145. Bitler BG, Menzl I, Huerta CL, Sands B, Knowlton W, Chang A, and Schroeder JA. (2009). Intracellular MUC1 peptides inhibit cancer progression. *Clin Cancer Res* **15**(1): p. 100-9.
- 146. Raina D, Ahmad R, Joshi MD, Yin L, Wu Z, Kawano T, Vasir B, Avigan D, Kharbanda S, and Kufe D. (2009). Direct targeting of the mucin 1 oncoprotein blocks survival and tumorigenicity of human breast carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res* 69(12): p. 5133-41.
- 147. Joshi MD, Ahmad R, Yin L, Raina D, Rajabi H, Bubley G, Kharbanda S, and Kufe D. (2009). MUC1 oncoprotein is a druggable target in human prostate cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* **8**(11): p. 3056-65.
- Zhou J, Rajabi H, and Kufe DW. (2011). Mucin 1 C-terminal subunit oncoprotein is a target for small-molecule inhibitors. *Mol Pharmacol* 79(5): p. 886-93.
- 149. Kajiji SM, Meitner PA, Bogaars HA, Dexter DL, Cummings FJ, Calabresi P, and Turner MD. Establishment of a fast growing variant of human pancreatic cancer (HPC) [abstract]. In: Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Association for Cancer Research; 1982 Mar. Philadelphia (PA): AACR; 1982. p. 31. Abstract nr 119.
- Kohlgraf KG, Gawron AJ, Higashi M, Meza JL, Burdick MD, Kitajima S, Kelly DL, Caffrey TC, and Hollingsworth MA. (2003). Contribution of the MUC1 tandem repeat and cytoplasmic tail to invasive and metastatic properties of a pancreatic cancer cell line. *Cancer Res* 63(16): p. 5011-20.
- 151. Golas JM, Arndt K, Etienne C, Lucas J, Nardin D, Gibbons J, Frost P, Ye F, Boschelli DH, and Boschelli F. (2003). SKI-606, a 4-anilino-3quinolinecarbonitrile dual inhibitor of Src and Abl kinases, is a potent antiproliferative agent against chronic myelogenous leukemia cells in culture and causes regression of K562 xenografts in nude mice. *Cancer Res* 63(2): p. 375-81.
- 152. Cheresh DA, Smith JW, Cooper HM, and Quaranta V. (1989). A novel vitronectin receptor integrin (alpha v beta x) is responsible for distinct adhesive properties of carcinoma cells. *Cell* **57**(1): p. 59-69.

- 153. Zijlstra A, Mellor R, Panzarella G, Aimes RT, Hooper JD, Marchenko ND, and Quigley JP. (2002). A quantitative analysis of rate-limiting steps in the metastatic cascade using human-specific real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Cancer Res* **62**(23): p. 7083-92.
- 154. Erler JT, Bennewith KL, Nicolau M, Dornhofer N, Kong C, Le QT, Chi JT, Jeffrey SS, and Giaccia AJ. (2006). Lysyl oxidase is essential for hypoxia-induced metastasis. *Nature* **440**(7088): p. 1222-6.
- 155. Kim J, Yu W, Kovalski K, and Ossowski L. (1998). Requirement for specific proteases in cancer cell intravasation as revealed by a novel semiquantitative PCR-based assay. *Cell* **94**(3): p. 353-62.
- 156. Lu Z, Ghosh S, Wang Z, and Hunter T. (2003). Downregulation of caveolin-1 function by EGF leads to the loss of E-cadherin, increased transcriptional activity of beta-catenin, and enhanced tumor cell invasion. *Cancer Cell* **4**(6): p. 499-515.
- 157. Xue C, Wyckoff J, Liang F, Sidani M, Violini S, Tsai KL, Zhang ZY, Sahai E, Condeelis J, and Segall JE. (2006). Epidermal growth factor receptor overexpression results in increased tumor cell motility in vivo coordinately with enhanced intravasation and metastasis. *Cancer Res* 66(1): p. 192-7.
- 158. Tsutsumida H, Swanson BJ, Singh PK, Caffrey TC, Kitajima S, Goto M, Yonezawa S, and Hollingsworth MA. (2006). RNA interference suppression of MUC1 reduces the growth rate and metastatic phenotype of human pancreatic cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* **12**(10): p. 2976-87.
- Hattrup CL and Gendler SJ. (2006). MUC1 alters oncogenic events and transcription in human breast cancer cells. *Breast Cancer Res* 8(4): p. R37.
- Satoh S, Hinoda Y, Hayashi T, Burdick MD, Imai K, and Hollingsworth MA. (2000). Enhancement of metastatic properties of pancreatic cancer cells by MUC1 gene encoding an anti-adhesion molecule. *Int J Cancer* 88(4): p. 507-18.
- Li X, Wang L, Nunes DP, Troxler RF, and Offner GD. (2005). Suppression of MUC1 synthesis downregulates expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Cancer Biol Ther* 4(9): p. 968-73.

- 162. Li Y, Liu D, Chen D, Kharbanda S, and Kufe D. (2003). Human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated protein functions as an oncogene. *Oncogene* **22**(38): p. 6107-10.
- Mahanta S, Fessler SP, Park J, and Bamdad C. (2008). A minimal fragment of MUC1 mediates growth of cancer cells. *PLoS One* 3(4): p. e2054.
- 164. Thompson EJ, Shanmugam K, Hattrup CL, Kotlarczyk KL, Gutierrez A, Bradley JM, Mukherjee P, and Gendler SJ. (2006). Tyrosines in the MUC1 cytoplasmic tail modulate transcription via the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and nuclear factor-kappaB pathways. *Mol Cancer Res* 4(7): p. 489-97.
- 165. Gianni D, Zambrano N, Bimonte M, Minopoli G, Mercken L, Talamo F, Scaloni A, and Russo T. (2003). Platelet-derived growth factor induces the beta-gamma-secretase-mediated cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein through a Src-Rac-dependent pathway. *J Biol Chem* 278(11): p. 9290-7.
- 166. Julian J, Dharmaraj N, and Carson DD. (2009). MUC1 is a substrate for gamma-secretase. *J Cell Biochem* **108**(4): p. 802-15.
- Barbero S, Mielgo A, Torres V, Teitz T, Shields DJ, Mikolon D, Bogyo M, Barila D, Lahti JM, Schlaepfer D, and Stupack DG. (2009). Caspase-8 association with the focal adhesion complex promotes tumor cell migration and metastasis. *Cancer Res* 69(9): p. 3755-63.
- Singh VP and McNiven MA. (2008). Src-mediated cortactin phosphorylation regulates actin localization and injurious blebbing in acinar cells. *Mol Biol Cell* **19**(5): p. 2339-47.
- 169. Mader CC, Oser M, Magalhaes MA, Bravo-Cordero J, Condeelis JS, Koleske AJ, and Gil-Henn H. (2011). An EGFR-Src-Arg-cortactin pathway mediates functional maturation of invadopodia and breast cancer cell invasion. *Cancer Res* **71**(5): p. 1730-41.
- 170. Leng Y, Cao C, Ren J, Huang L, Chen D, Ito M, and Kufe D. (2007). Nuclear import of the MUC1-C oncoprotein is mediated by nucleoporin Nup62. *J Biol Chem* **282**(27): p. 19321-30.
- 171. Tinder TL, Subramani DB, Basu GD, Bradley JM, Schettini J, Million A, Skaar T, and Mukherjee P. (2008). MUC1 enhances tumor progression and contributes toward immunosuppression in a mouse model of

spontaneous pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *J Immunol* **181**(5): p. 3116-25.

- 172. Shields DJ, Murphy EA, Desgrosellier JS, Mielgo A, Lau SK, Barnes LA, Lesperance J, Huang M, Schmedt C, Tarin D, Lowy AM, and Cheresh DA. (2011). Oncogenic Ras/Src cooperativity in pancreatic neoplasia. *Oncogene* **30**: p. 2123-34.
- 173. Thelemann A, Petti F, Griffin G, Iwata K, Hunt T, Settinari T, Fenyo D, Gibson N, and Haley JD. (2005). Phosphotyrosine signaling networks in epidermal growth factor receptor overexpressing squamous carcinoma cells. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **4**(4): p. 356-76.
- 174. Steen H, Kuster B, Fernandez M, Pandey A, and Mann M. (2002). Tyrosine phosphorylation mapping of the epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem* **277**(2): p. 1031-9.
- 175. Blagoev B, Ong SE, Kratchmarova I, and Mann M. (2004). Temporal analysis of phosphotyrosine-dependent signaling networks by quantitative proteomics. *Nat Biotechnol* **22**(9): p. 1139-45.
- Kratchmarova I, Blagoev B, Haack-Sorensen M, Kassem M, and Mann M. (2005). Mechanism of divergent growth factor effects in mesenchymal stem cell differentiation. *Science* **308**(5727): p. 1472-7.
- 177. Zhang Y, Wolf-Yadlin A, Ross PL, Pappin DJ, Rush J, Lauffenburger DA, and White FM. (2005). Time-resolved mass spectrometry of tyrosine phosphorylation sites in the epidermal growth factor receptor signaling network reveals dynamic modules. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **4**(9): p. 1240-50.
- 178. Luo W, Slebos RJ, Hill S, Li M, Brabek J, Amanchy R, Chaerkady R, Pandey A, Ham AJ, and Hanks SK. (2008). Global impact of oncogenic Src on a phosphotyrosine proteome. *J Proteome Res* **7**(8): p. 3447-60.
- 179. Amanchy R, Zhong J, Molina H, Chaerkady R, Iwahori A, Kalume DE, Gronborg M, Joore J, Cope L, and Pandey A. (2008). Identification of c-Src tyrosine kinase substrates using mass spectrometry and peptide microarrays. *J Proteome Res* **7**(9): p. 3900-10.
- Saito K, Enya K, Oneyama C, Hikita T, and Okada M. (2008).
 Proteomic identification of ZO-1/2 as a novel scaffold for Src/Csk regulatory circuit. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 366(4): p. 969-75.